Modeling Subglacial Hydrology in the Himalayas

by

Neosha Gupta Narayanan

Submitted to the Department of Earth, Atmospheric, and Planetary Sciences

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2023

All rights are reserved: © 2023 Neosha Narayanan. The author hereby grants to MIT a nonexclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, royalty-free license to exercise any and all rights under copyright, including to reproduce, preserve, distribute and publicly display copies of the thesis, or release the thesis under an open-access license.

Author
Department of Earth, Atmospheric, and Planetary Sciences
September 2023
Certified by
Brent Minchew
Class of 1948 Career Development Professor
Associate Professor of Geophysics
Thesis Supervisor
Accepted by
Robert van der Hilst
Professor of Earth Sciences
Department Head of Earth, Atmospheric, and Planetary Sciences

Modeling Subglacial Hydrology in the Himalayas

by

Neosha Gupta Narayanan

Submitted to the Department of Earth, Atmospheric, and Planetary Sciences on September 2023, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Abstract

The snowpack and glaciers of the Himalaya-Karakoram range feed several major river systems in Asia which provide water to over a billion people. Glacial retreat, glacial lake outburst flooding (GLOFs), surge behavior, and glacial ice mass balance are all likely strongly affected by subglacial hydrology. Unfortunately, little is known about Himalayan glaciers due to their remoteness and the danger of doing field work there. Recent advances in subglacial hydrological modeling may allow us to shed more light on subglacial processes that lead to changes in ice mass balance and glacial lake flooding. In this master's thesis, we present the first application of the SHAKTI subglacial hydrology model to a Himalayan glacier. We model the subglacial drainage network of Shishper Glacier, located in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan, to understand its seasonal evolution and history of surges and GLOFs. Our results show that Shishper's subglacial system follows a similar seasonal pattern to past observed and modeled subglacial systems. We find that a central channel persists through the winter and serves as the basis for the subglacial drainage system throughout the melt season. We also investigate the 2017-2019 surge of Shishper Glacier and find that subglacial hydrology, while likely an important component of surging, cannot provide a standalone explanation for surges. This work serves as a nucleus for future subglacial hydrology modeling work in the Himalayas and provides a new framework for studying the effects of climate change on glacier dynamics, water availability, and glacier-related hazards in the Himalaya-Karakoram (H-K) region.

Thesis Supervisor: Brent Minchew Title: Class of 1948 Career Development Professor Associate Professor of Geophysics

Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Aleah Sommers at Dartmouth College, whose modeling work this thesis is based upon. She provided so many hours of her time and energy to help and guide me with the SHAKTI model setup, code, and analysis, and I have learned so much from her. I would also like to thank Dr. Muhammad Adnan Siddique from the Islamabad Technical University for his invaluable insight into the study site. I am also extremely thankful to Dr. Jakob Steiner for providing not only the ERA5 melt and precipitation data, but also so many ideas, energy, and enthusiasm.

I would not be here without my parents, Malobi and Gopal, who have worked so hard to create a life here that is safe, abundant, loving, and beautiful. They have made me who I am today. I am also grateful for the warmth of my friends (A-Chan, Mydia, Sandy, Salma, Lucy, Mila), the unwavering support of my partner Gaëtan, and my sister Rohini, for whom I would move heaven and earth.

I am also thankful for the Joint Science Education Project (JSEP), which gave me the first opportunity fall in love with glaciers and learn about polar science. I am also grateful to my friends at IIT Roorkee and my advisor there, Dr. Dhyan Singh Arya, who gave me the opportunity to study GLOFs in India firsthand last summer through MIT's MISTI program. Furthermore these acknowledgments would not be complete without mentioning Joanna Millstein, who has been the best teammate, friend, research mentor, and labmate I could ever ask for.

To my master's advisor, Dr. Brent Minchew, I am so grateful: not just for the scientific knowledge, methodology, and philosophy he has taught me, but also for the ceaseless encouragement and inspiration, hours-long conversations about life, and invaluable wisdom. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the William Asbjornsen Albert Fellowship for financial support. Dedicated to my mom and my dad.

In loving remembrance of Gally (Galileo) Narayanan (2009-2023) Om Shanti

•

Contents

1	Gla	ciers i	n the Himalaya-Karakoram (HK) Region	11
	1.1	The In	mportance of Glaciers in High Mountain Asia	11
		1.1.1	Climate and Weather Patterns	13
	1.2	Glacia	l Retreat in the Himalaya-Karakoram	14
		1.2.1	Previously Observed Glacial Retreat in the Eastern Himalaya	14
		1.2.2	The Karakoram Anomaly	15
		1.2.3	Predicting Glacial Mass Balance for the 21st Century	16
	1.3	er Conclusion	17	
2	Wat	ter Sca	arcity, Governance, and Flooding in Pakistan	19
	2.1	Water	Scarcity	20
		2.1.1	Sources of Water in Pakistan	21
		2.1.2	Water Governance	21
		2.1.3	Indigenous Knowledge	25
	2.2	Flood	s and Disasters	26
		2.2.1	Monsoon-Related Flooding	27
		2.2.2	Glacial Lake Outburst Floods (GLOF)	28
	2.3	Gende	ered Impacts of Water Scarcity and Disasters	31
		2.3.1	Sexual and Maternal Health	31
		2.3.2	Gender Roles in Households and the Labor Market	32
		2.3.3	Social Vulnerabilities and Strengths	33
	2.4	Chapt	er Conclusion	34

3	Glacier-Related Hazards					
	3.1	Anatomy of Mountain Glaciers	37			
	3.2	Surges	39			
		3.2.1 Suggested Mechanisms for Surging Behavior	39			
		3.2.2 Surges in the Karakoram	42			
	3.3	Glacial Lake Outburst Floods	43			
		3.3.1 Classification of Glacial Lakes	44			
		3.3.2 GLOFs in the Karakoram Region	46			
	3.4	Chapter Conclusion	47			
4	A Primer on Subglacial Hydrology 49					
	4.1	Subglacial Drainage Networks	50			
		4.1.1 Delivery of Meltwater to the Bed	50			
		4.1.2 Components of the Subglacial Drainage Network	51			
		4.1.3 Seasonal Evolution of the Drainage Network	57			
		4.1.4 Sliding Laws	59			
		4.1.5 Differences between the Polar and Alpine Environments	61			
	4.2	Observing Subglacial Hydrology	62			
		4.2.1 Remote Sensing Methods	62			
		4.2.2 In-Situ Methods	64			
	4.3	Modeling Subglacial Hydrology	67			
		4.3.1 SHAKTI: Subglacial Hydrology and Kinetic, Transient Inter-				
		actions	68			
	4.4	Chapter Conclusion	72			
5	Cas	e Study: Modeling of Subglacial Hydrology in Gilgit-Baltistan,				
	Pak	istan	75			
	5.1	Introduction				
	5.2	Model Setup	77			
	5.3	Preliminary Simulations	79			
		5.3.1 Winter Spin-Up	81			

		5.3.2	Discrete Meltwater Inputs	83
	5.4	Transient Simulations		
		5.4.1	Melt and Precipitation Data Acquisition	87
		5.4.2	Model Setup and Parameters	88
	5.5	Chapt	er Conclusion	89
6	Shi	shper (Case Study: Results, Discussion, and Conclusions	95
	6.1	Seasor	nal Evolution of the Subglacial Drainage System	95
		6.1.1	Temporal Visualizations of Seasonal Evolution	96
		6.1.2	Spatial Visualizations of the Subglacial Drainage System	103
		6.1.3	Surging and GLOFs between 2017-2021	111
		6.1.4	Model Limitations	115
	6.2	Future	e Work	116
		6.2.1	General Improvements to Model Accuracy and Precision	117
		6.2.2	The Effects of Liquid Precipitation	118
		6.2.3	Proximal Lake Drainage	119
		6.2.4	Moulin (Supraglacial Lake) Drainage	120
		6.2.5	Coupled Hydrology and Ice Dynamics Simulations	120
		6.2.6	Contributions to Early Warning Systems	121
	6.3	Conclu	usion	121
7	Sup	pleme	ntary Materials	123

Chapter 1

Glaciers in the Himalaya-Karakoram (HK) Region

1.1 The Importance of Glaciers in High Mountain Asia

High-mountain Asia (HMA) is often referred to as the "Third Pole" of the world because it contains the largest number and mass of glaciers outside of the polar regions [160, 112]. HMA is comprised of the Himalaya and Karakoram (H-K) ranges, which cover approximately 650,000 km² and 90,000 km² respectively [29]. Estimates of the number and volume of glaciers of the H-K vary widely. Estimates of the number of glaciers range from 30,000 to 95,000 [39]. Glacier volume is difficult to measure on large regional scales, but current estimates vary between 36000 to 51000 km² [19].

It is crucial to understand and predict runoff availability for the major economic activities in the downstream river basins, including hydropower and agriculture [29]. The Indus, Ganges, Brahmaputra, Amu Darya, Tarim, Yangtze, Yellow River basins all originate from the H-K, with meltwater supplying approximately 40% of river runoff [73, 127]. River basins originating in the Himalayas are shown in black borders in Figure 1-1. These rivers affect the lives of approximately 1.4 billion people, about 20% of the global population [73]. The glaciers play an crucial role in regulating the



Figure 1-1: Population per km^2 in the Indus, Tarim, Ganges, and Brahmaputra river basins, which are all sourced by glaciers in the Himalaya-Karakoram (the Yangtze and Yellow river basins are to the east of this map) [112].

water supply of the region, acting as a buffer to the seasonal variations by providing meltwater runoff in the summer and fall [29]. Runoff volume is particularly sensitive to climate change because it depends on melting of seasonal snowpack and glacier ice [102]. Glacial meltwater runoff is particularly important for communities living in the river basins of the Karakoram and northwestern Himalaya, which receive less precipitation [29].

These river basins supply irrigation for agriculture in the region [73]. It is estimated that approximately 50% of India's utilizable surface water resources are provided by the Indus, Brahmaputra, and Ganges river basins, all of which are primarily sourced from the Himalayan glaciers [131]. Of all the rivers originating in the Himalayas, upstream discharge of the Indus and Brahmaputra basins are the most sensitive to climate change [73]; as a result, these areas will likely be heavily affected by water insecurity in the future due to their high population densities and dependence on river discharge for irrigation [73].

The hydrological system of the H-K is critically important for the hydroelectric power plants (HPPs) which are scattered throughout the mountains [112]. Glacierfed basins in Nepal, India, and Pakistan particularly rely on hydropower because electricity shortages can be a severe issue there [112]. The volume of glacial meltwater corresponds directly with the hydroelectric power generation of the dams [119]. Because of this, power generation varies seasonally [112].

Most existing hydroelectric power plants have been built in the last 2-3 decades, with more dam projects projected to start as population and energy demand grow in Asia [112, 136]. However, natural hazards constitute a major danger to these expensive plants [136]. For example, glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) have destroyed power plants in the past, including the 45 megawatt Bhotekoshi hydropower plant in Nepal [40]. In addition, a recent trend has seen the placement of HPPs moving more and more upstream, putting them at greater risk of destruction or damage from GLOFs [136]. GLOFs can be triggered by natural events such as cloudbursts and flash floods [112]; for example, in 2013, a flash flood in the Upper Ganges in India led to a GLOF called the Kedarnath disaster [15]. This GLOF damaged a series of cascading HPPs downstream of the flood [15]. However, despite the increased risk of damage from natural disasters, population growth means that the H-K is forecasted to continue to expand on its hydroelectric power potential [112]. To safeguard South Asia's hydropower plants, it is important to understand where and when GLOFs may pose risks.

1.1.1 Climate and Weather Patterns

Glaciers may also play a key role in the regulation of weather patterns in the H-K region [29]. The influence of the Asian monsoon increases from west to east and from the north to the south in the Himalayas [29]. The interaction of the Asian Monsoon (AM) with westerly winds, also known as the Western Disturbance (WD) creates a complex hydrological cycle in the H-K mountains [30]. Glacier mass in monsoon-affected regions – i.e., the central and eastern Himalayas – is generally more

sensitive to temperature changes because increases in temperature directly reduces snow accumulation and elongates the melt period [29]. In the central and eastern Himalayas, most glaciers are described as "summer-accumulation type" which gain mass primarily through snowfall due to the Asian Monsoon system [7]. In the eastern river basins, rain also contributes significantly to river flow. In the Karakoram region, however, most glaciers are classified as winter-accumulation types, meaning that they gain mass most during the winter due to storms caused by the Western Disturbances [29]. Because there is less precipitation in the Karakoram region, glacier meltwater and discharge through the Indus river system is the primary source of water for the region [12].

1.2 Glacial Retreat in the Himalaya-Karakoram

1.2.1 Previously Observed Glacial Retreat in the Eastern Himalaya

Studies have shown that since the mid-twentieth century, rising temperatures have led to unprecedented melt rates in the eastern Himalayas during the summer [112]. The negative mass balance in the Himalayas has also corresponded with increasing debris cover since the 1960s [19]. Shrinkage of glaciers has also led to fragmentation of large glaciers, which has increased the overall number of glaciers observed in H-K [87]. Both debris accumulation and glacier fragmentation can exacerbate melting, leading to a positive feedback loop of ice mass loss [112]. Figure 1-2 illustrates the decreasing glacier retreat from the eastern to western regions of the H-K mountain range.

From area change studies, [19] shows that despite slight regional variations in mass balance change, the central and eastern Himalayas have seen a continuous area shrinkage of -0.36% between 1960-2010. The loss of ice mass in the Himalayas has also corresponded to a rapid growth in various types of glacial lakes, a phenomenon which has major implications for human lives and infrastructure as well as hydrological



Figure 1-2: Terminus positions in the Eastern, Central, and Western Himalayas show continuous glacial retreat through the 20th century. However, glaciers in the Karakoram have shown marginally increasing growth (Figure from [19]).

systems and geomorphology [143].

1.2.2 The Karakoram Anomaly

In the past few decades, the glaciers of the Karakoram region showed an unusual trend of stable or even marginally increasing mass balance [88], a phenomenon that is still not well understood. This is commonly referred to as the Karakoram Anomaly [97]. Rather than retreating, Karakoram glacier fronts have been observed to exhibit stability or even advance in past decades [65]. In the Karakoram region, summer temperatures decreased since the 1960s, a trend that contrasts with the increasing summer temperatures in the eastern Himalayas [55]. This may have explained the anomalous thickening and lengthening of glaciers in the Karakoram Himalaya, as opposed to the warming and thinning that is seen in other glaciers worldwide; however, the underlying factors behind these decreasing summer temperatures are not well understood.

1.2.3 Predicting Glacial Mass Balance for the 21st Century

Alpine glaciers worldwide have consistently exhibited major retreat and lost hundreds of gigatons of mass in the past two decades alone [69]. It has been observed that mass loss in the Himalayas has seen a steady increase since the mid-19th century [95, 84]. Similarly, indicators show that temperatures have been steadily rising across the entirety of the Himalayas since at least 1959 [159].

A very recent report from the International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD) found that between the years of 2010-2019, the Karakoram Anomaly is reversed and joined the rest of the world's glaciers in retreat. This is probably due to a recent increase in summer temperatures in the region [75]. According to the report, H-K glaciers are predicted to lose 30-50% of their mass by 2100 if warming is restricted to 1.5° to 2° C [75]. This percentage increases if warming exceeds 2° C. The number and size of glacial lakes will also increase drastically, causing more severe GLOFs [75]. This has very important implications for the future of water availability: "peak melt" is expected to occur by 2050, after which time glacier runoff will decrease [110]. This will affect water availability in all of the glacier-fed river basins in Asia, especially in the Indus, Ganges, and Brahmaputra basins where a combined 129 million farmers currently depend on glacial runoff to irrigate their crops [110]. The effects of this mass loss are wide-ranging, from reductions in permafrost and groundwater to increased landslides, avalanches, and flooding, as well as consequences for natural ecosystems and biodiversity [110].

1.3 Chapter Conclusion

It is difficult to overstate the wide-ranging importance of the glaciers in the Himalaya-Karakoram (H-K) range. Often referred to as the "Third Pole" due to the immense amount of ice sequestered there, the H-K range supplies meltwater runoff that feeds numerous river basins throughout Asia. Over a billion people rely on these river basins for agriculture, hydropower, climate regulation, and more. Since at least 1950, these glaciers have been observed to shrink at an accelerated pace due to climate change. This trend is only going to continue through the next century as temperatures and melt rates increase. In order to ensure South Asia's success, strategies must be developed to increase the sustainability of its water resources.

Chapter 2

Water Scarcity, Governance, and Flooding in Pakistan

NOTE: The purpose of this chapter is to contextualize the technical aspects of Himalayan glaciology within its broader humanitarian impacts. We have attempted to provide an impartial summary of the social and political issues surrounding Himalayan glaciers in the Karakoram range. This summary is very abbreviated and does not encompass many of the nuances that are required to fully understand the issues. For more information, please see the referenced works.

As climate change advances, the future of water supply in the Karakoram Range grows dire. Glaciers are receding everywhere worldwide, including in the Karakoram [110, 73]. In particular, Pakistan's water supply, which comes from the Indus Basin, relies heavily on water from glacial water towers because of its naturally drier climate and large agricultural economy [112]. The population of Pakistan is also growing rapidly, putting strain on its agricultural resources. Food security is a particularly important issue in Pakistan; therefore, managing its water resources is a critical need for Pakistan's political and socioeconomic growth [117].

In addition to the potential for food insecurity due to shrinking glaciers in the Karakoram, it has been shown that glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) and glacial surge behavior occur with increased frequency with rising temperatures [94, 22]. This has especially affected rural highland populations in northern Pakistan. As glaciers shrink and termini retreat, glacial lakes grow in size and risk potential (since larger lakes can cause more destruction to areas downstream) [94]. This creates a myriad of hazards that are important for lawmakers, scientists, and local citizens to consider. Furthermore, GLOFs have devastating effects on the lives of the people living in close proximity to the glaciers. Protecting the needs of these people presents a significant challenge for climate change adaptation.

2.1 Water Scarcity

Although Pakistan contains the largest number of glaciers outside the poles [77], it is one of the most water-stressed countries in the world. The presence of larger state and colonial governments has had a direct negative impact on water availability. Traditional water systems have been neglected in favor of "modern" or Western infrastructure, which is not as well-suited to conditions in South Asia [137]. The consequence of this is that much of the H-K region, including much of Pakistan, northern India, and Nepal now suffer from water shortages [137]. More than 80% of Pakistanis now face extreme water scarcity for at least one month out of the year [106]. In the next five years, Pakistan will reach "absolute" water scarcity [32]. About 92% of Pakistan's land is classified as arid or semi-arid; however, being a primarily agrarian economy, 97% of Pakistan's water is used for agriculture while the remaining 3% is used for domestic and industrial purposes [151]. In addition, its population is growing very rapidly, calling not just future water availability, but also food availability, into question [117]. As per-person water availability decreases, it is important to understand the reasons why Pakistan is facing such challenges and to implement better infrastructure for ensuring its water security in the future.

2.1.1 Sources of Water in Pakistan

The rivers in Pakistan are mostly glacier-fed [117]. As climate change advances, the supply of meltwater from Karakoram glaciers into the Indus basin are expected to increase until 2050 as glacial melting accelerates [117]. However, after 2050, as the glaciers shrink, glacial meltwater volume will steadily decline. Warmer temperatures will lead to increased evapotranspiration and decreased soil moisture, which will require more irrigation water [117].

Precipitation also amounts for a large percentage of the water supply. Monsoon rains, which occur between July and August, account for 70% of Pakistan's total water [1]. However, as we will discuss next, Pakistan's ability to store water is quite poor, so much of this monsoon rain supply is not able to be stored.

2.1.2 Water Governance

Some Pakistani scholars claim that a great deal of Pakistan's water stress can partially be blamed on government mismanagement leading to crumbling infrastructure [11]. One scholar even claims that the government has taken a "callous" approach to water management [101]. In particular, there is little regulation of irrigation practices, and agricultural practices are inefficient [101]. The country's main crops are sugarcane, rice, wheat, and cotton [151]; both sugarcane and rice are very water-intensive crops to grow, and are thus not practical for the dry climate. As a result of these inefficient practices and water-intensive crops, the water column is significantly lowered and underground aquifers are severely depleted [11].

Additionally, Pakistan's water storage capacity is diminished; its reservoirs are only able to store 30 days worth of water supply, whereas other countries such as India have up to a 220 day capacity [11]. This means that even if there is ample rain, it is not able to be stored, reducing the country's resilience to changes in weather. In addition, conflicts between the states of Sindh and Punjab have led to tensions about partitioning water, which has led to slowdowns in passing public policy [79].

However, a great deal of Pakistan's issues in water management come from colonial-

era changes. For example, the British, who had colonized current-day Pakistan and India in the 1800s, built a large canal system drawing water away from the Indus River, accompanied by a large rail network, for the purpose of growing and exporting cash crops more easily [101]. To accommodate this canal system and railway, they underwent a massive deforestation project [101]. The continuing deforestation of Pakistan, which follows colonial precedent, has greatly exacerbated the effects of climate change, as forests act as important buffers for flood events [13]. Geographers also note that the colonial creation of these "Western-style" irrigation system destroyed the natural cycle of high-frequency, low-intensity floods which nourished Pakistan's native ecosystems [101]. Now, floods occur at less frequency but higher intensity, causing major destruction and human displacement [101].

Pakistan-India Water Sharing

The border between current-day India and Pakistan was drawn by the British in the 1940s, but failed to take rivers and already-existing irrigation systems into account [78, 101]. As a result, all of Pakistan's rivers flow first through India, reducing Pakistan's sovereignty and ability to manage its own water resources (Figure 2-1). Government officials and scholars in Pakistan are especially concerned with the large number of existing and planned hydropower projects on the Indian side of these rivers, which can result in sudden releases of water or stoppages of flow to the Pakistani side [79, 151, 78]. However, due to the deteriorated state of diplomatic relations between Pakistan and India, it has been difficult for the two countries to work out a fair and equitable solution for sharing water resources [79].

The Indus Waters Treaty (IWT) of 1960 was the first piece of water legislation between India and Pakistan. It has been regarded as one of the biggest success stories in water diplomacy, as it has survived through several wars between India and Pakistan [78]. Through this treaty, the rights to the Indus, Jhelum, and Chenab rivers were given to Pakistan, and accordingly the Ravi, Beas, and Sutlej to India (Figure 2-1) [78]. There are many scholarly opinions as to whether or not the IWT was "effective" or fair; certainly, it worked in that it allowed each country to serve



Figure 2-1: All of Pakistan's critical rivers flow first through India. This poses a major challenge for joint watershed governance between Pakistan and India [78]

its own self-interest (barring the fact that the three rivers "given" to Pakistan first flow through India), but a major flaw of the IWT is that it did not work out a way for the two countries to jointly manage the Indus watershed [8]. Also, China and Afghanistan, which also share the Indus basin, were not part of this treaty [8]. Now, there is a possibility that Afghanistan may try to build dams on the Kabul River, which also flows into Pakistan; this has the potential to lead to further restrictions of water flow [78].

As climate change causes increased water stress across the basin, the division of the Indus basin across international borders has severe implications not just for water security, but also for disaster management [8]. For example, a downpour in 2014 in the disputed Indian state of Jammu and Kashmir led to massive losses of life both in India and Pakistan. The lack of a joint flood management plan exacerbated the losses of lives in both countries [8]. Natural disasters such as cyclones, avalanches, and GLOFs are already increasing with climate change. As a result, there has been a recent push by climate researchers on both sides for India and Pakistan to coordinate data-sharing and disaster relief planning [123].

Inter-National Governance in South Asia

Effective water governance is key to improving water availability and implementing sustainable water management practices in the Himalaya-Karakoram region. Currently, there is a lack of effective bilateral and multilateral agreements between the countries that share water in the H-K region, mostly owing to tensions and disagreements between governments in South Asia [142]. For example, although India and Bhutan have an effective water management agreement through which both countries benefit, the agreements between India and Bangladesh, Nepal, and Pakistan are much less balanced due to mutual mistrust and differences in both power and attitudes toward water governance [142]. In particular, because upstream water management so profoundly impacts downstream water quality and availability, inter-national agreements are necessary to ensure equitable sharing of water [142].

Although many small-scale technical solutions to water shortages have been proposed and implemented (e.g., flood walls or improved irrigation systems), the primary macro-scale solution advocated by water experts studying the H-K region is the riverbasin approach [142]. Managing resources at the river-basin scale allows maximum benefit from infrastructure projects and minimizes the risk of water-related hazards [137]. In particular, the International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD) lays forward a detailed plan called "Multiscale Integrated River Basin Management" [109]. The plan integrates a variety of social, economic, and environmental factors and joins together multiple sectors affected by water use including domestic water use, agricultural irrigation, and hydropower [109]. In the past, a similar approach has been taken in other places to a great degree of success; for example, in Colombia, partnerships between conservation/advocacy groups and various community-based organizations led to improved economic status and increased fertility of the area surrounding the La Cocha Lagoon which was being degraded due to forest over-exploitation [109]. An approach like this offers a rare hope to improve the lives and prospects of billions of people in South Asia; however, poorly drawn colonial-era borders and political tensions in South Asia make the implementation of the river-basin approach unlikely.

2.1.3 Indigenous Knowledge

Understanding traditional and Indigenous knowledge is an essential tenet of climate change studies [6]. It is well-known that Indigenous and traditional knowledge is one of the best tools for understanding local geology and ecology and adapting to climaterelated hazards [116]. Indigenous people often promote sustainable stewardship of land, and preservation of natural and cultural resources [116]. South Asia, which is home to the Himalayas, has a long and arduous history with colonization, exploitation, and Westernization. This has led to a myriad of land use changes that exacerbate water scarcity and flooding. It has also led to the unfortunate loss of a large body of Indigenous knowledge which had been passed on for generations. Thus, it is of critical importance for people who practice Western science to understand and incorporate remaining Indigenous knowledge into their methodologies going in the future.

Glacier Grafting

Glacier grafting is a traditional practice performed in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan, the region in which this thesis' study area is located (see Chapter 5). The tradition was first mentioned in ancient texts in the 1300s C.E., and was also documented by the British in the early 1800s [48]. It is used to encourage the growth of glacier-like ice patches [104], which supply meltwater that can be used for agricultural irrigation. In Gilgit-Baltistan, scholars estimate that the technique of glacier grafting has the potential to transform 90,000 hectares of land per district into arable land [104].

The local folklore holds that glaciers are living entities that can be identified either as male or female [48]. Male glaciers are generally debris-covered and gray in color, whereas female glaciers are blue or white [48]. Male glaciers generally move more slowly and generate less meltwater, whereas female glaciers move more quickly and generate more meltwater [48]. To graft or "breed" the glaciers, local people take 300-kilogram chunks from a male glacier and a female glacier and combine them with Indus River water. The mixture is transported to a pre-decided location using insulated packs [48]. The pre-decided locations are generally in shadowed caves or deep pits high in the mountain (between 4000-5000m), where temperatures remain below freezing year-round [104]. The people then cover the ice with ash and mud and seal the hole with large stones. After holding festivities and rituals associated with this "glacier wedding," local villagers leave the glacier alone. Within 10-12 years, they can expect a new "glacier" to form [48].

Recent glacier grafts in Gilgit-Baltistan have yielded an 80% success rate [48]. This is no surprise; by placing a critical mass of ice in a suitable environment, it will be able accumulate enough precipitation such that accumulation exceeds ablation, leading to growth [48]. Villagers from the Shigar district of Gilgit-Baltistan said in an interview that plenty of water had been flowing continuously since performing a glacier graft, which allowed them to reliably cultivate wheat, barley, and vegetables in areas that had seen only intermittent flow before [48].

In the face of climate change, glaciers in Gilgit-Baltistan and all over the world are expected to shrink, reducing the amount of meltwater they can generate for food production. However, traditional practices like glacier grafting provide encouraging solutions for climate change adaptation.

2.2 Floods and Disasters

Water security is one side of the coin of Pakistan's water crisis; flooding is the opposite face. Both are phenomena exacerbated by climate change, and both are extremely dangerous. Other hazards such as avalanches and landslides are also becoming increasingly common as glaciers become less stable and permafrost melts. Further, the Indus basin is one of the most affected by extreme weather events; of all the basins in the H-K, it saw the most number of people killed between 1980 and 2015 [9].

2.2.1 Monsoon-Related Flooding

Large-scale, devastating flood events occurred in Pakistan most recently in August 2022, causing thousands of deaths, billions of dollars in damage, and temporarily dominating the global news cycle. Although the floods held the world's attention for only about a week, the severe repercussions of the floods will continue for months and years.

A majority of Pakistan's rainwater is delivered between July and August, corresponding with the Asian monsoon cycle. In 2022, however, Pakistan received about 190% of its yearly average rainfall [152]. The extremity of this flooding event is thought to have been exacerbated by the prolonged, severe heatwaves that affected Pakistan from May to June, creating a low-pressure system that caused the amplification of the existing monsoon rain system [107]. The system of embankments and barrages initially built by the British in the 1800s, originally meant to increase farmable land for cash crop exports, exacerbated the floods even further [32]. These structures prevented excess water from flowing back into the Indus River system, causing the floodwater to accumulate and harbor waterborne diseases including malaria [32].

During this time, about 1/3 of the country was completely submerged. 15,000 people were left dead or injured, 2 million homes were destroyed, and 4 million acres of agricultural land were severely damaged [1]. The cost to rebuild from these floods is over 30 billion US dollars, a cost unbearable by Pakistan by itself [115]. Although it received approximately \$10b in international aid, Pakistan is still reeling from the damage caused by the 2022 floods [1].

These types of flood events are expected to increase with more and more frequency throughout the coming decades [107]. Returning to more traditional irrigation systems may alleviate the severity of floods in the future, but it will be difficult to make such a large-scale economic transition. Combined with glacier-related floods and disasters, monsoon-related floods put the entirety of Pakistan at risk.

2.2.2 Glacial Lake Outburst Floods (GLOF)

GLOFs occur when glacial lakes burst suddenly out of their natural impoundments, causing large-scale destruction of lives, infrastructure, and crops downstream. GLOFs occur all over the world wherever there are glaciers. In the Karakoram range, a higher frequency of glacial surge activity has also been associated with a greater risk of GLOFs (Chapter 3) [22]. However, the Himalaya-Karakoram and the Andes ranges have received the largest amount of scientific attention due to the large, vulnerable human populations downstream of these floods.

Although lake drainages can vary greatly in severity, the devastation caused by GLOFs is hard to understate. One of the most infamous recent GLOFs in South Asia, the Kedarnath Disaster, occurred in 2013 [5]. Following a cloudburst flash flood, Chorabari Lake in Uttarakhand, India was inundated and caused its moraine dam to fail [5]. The death toll was placed at about 6,000 people, including local residents of the town of Kedarnath as well as religious Hindu and Sikh pilgrims. The cost of rebuilding the bridges, houses, and damaged hydropower plants was hundreds of millions of USD [5].

Smaller GLOFs occur quite commonly all over the Himalayas. In northern Pakistan alone, there are 36 glacial lakes that are in danger of flooding [22]. Shisper Glacier is just one of them. In May 2022, following the hottest spring in Pakistan since 1961, the glacial lake at Shishper's terminus drained suddenly, discharging at 10,000 cubic feet per second [118]. The GLOF destroyed agricultural land, homes, and two power plants downstream, leaving much of the surrounding Hunza Valley without electricity [118].

In this area, lake drainages commonly cause damage to agricultural lands and people's livelihoods, leading to economic losses and emotional and physical trauma. People near the GLOF-prone lakes live in a state of continuous mental stress, and paramedics have observed widespread anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) amongst villagers [46]. According to the film "The Sky is Far, the Earth is Tough" by Pakistani filmmaker Haya Fatima Iqbal, opium is commonly used to alleviate the grief and pain that people feel [74]. One woman affected by a GLOF in a nearby valley said that her husband smoked opium all day, which caused her to take on double her usual household tasks [74]. Gilgit-Baltistan has also seen an increased suicide rate in young people, especially women [46].

Early Warning Systems

Early warning systems (EWSs) can alert local people of GLOF-related danger and prevent losses of life. At Shishper Glacier, an early warning system has proven effective at protecting people nearby from outburst flooding. The Pakistan Meteorological Department (PMD) regularly monitors Shishper due to its close proximity to human settlements and to the Karakoram Highway [76]. The PMD uses satellite data collected every 16 days, but these measurements are constrained by whether or not there is cloud cover over the area [76]. In addition, a live camera installed at the glacier can help assess the lake's water level [76]. Other EWSs in the Himalayas have made use of flood water routing models and flow hydrographs to assess which areas will be inundated and when [89]. In some areas, young men trek up to the glacier and listen for loud sounds that might signify an avalanche or landslide that may trigger a GLOF, which can reach downstream communities within minutes. They then use radio phones to alert communities downstream [74].

Although EWSs have been made possible through a combination of satellite imagery and in-situ measurements, none yet have the certainty or ability to trigger sirens or automatically alert nearby people of danger [89, 76]. All current EWSs require specific and constant attention from scientists in order to work properly. As the number of dangerous glacial lakes near human settlements increases in the Himalayas, it will become even more difficult to dedicate enough attention to each dangerous glacial lake. Therefore, it is of great importance to fully automate these EWSs and to make them more accurate so that evacuations and prevention techniques can happen on time.

GLOF Prevention: Lake Drainage

GLOF prevention measures can go a long way in preserving lives and infrastructure. A famous example of GLOF prevention is the lake drainage of Lake Imja in Nepal. In 2016, Imja Lake near Mt. Everest was assessed to be in danger of outburst flooding. The lake, which was 149m deep in some places, had been destabilized by recent earthquakes [145]. Army personnel and sherpas took 6 months to build a drainage system that lowered Imja Lake's water level by 3.4 meters, slowly releasing about 4 million cubic meters of water over the course of two months [145]. By doing this, the risk of GLOF was significantly reduced. This is a promising method for draining especially dangerous glacial lakes; however, the money, time, and specialized personnel required to construct an outlet and drain glacial lakes is extremely intensive and often infeasible for most sites.

United Nations Development Programme: GLOF-I and GLOF-II

The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) has brought special attention to GLOFs in High Mountain Asia through the GLOF-I and GLOF-II projects. GLOF-I, "Reducing Risks and Vulnerabilities from GLOF Northern Pakistan," conducted between 2011-2016, aimed to establish an institutional framework and lay the groundwork for building a community-based response and adaptation program for the Gilgit-Baltistan and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa areas in Pakistan [4].

GLOF-II "Scaling Up of Glacier Lake Outburst Flood (GLOF) Risk Reduction in Northern Pakistan," which is currently ongoing, is a scaling up of the GLOF-I project. The project has received nearly \$40 million in funding and is conducted in partnership with the Pakistan Ministry of Climate Change [3]. The project ranges in goals, from installing more automated weather stations (AWSs) and discharge measurement apparatuses to increasing the resilience of mountain communities. The project involves implementation of new irrigation and slope stabilization schemes, installation of small-scale infrastructure, and the establishment of Community Based Disaster Risk Management Centers (CBDRMCs) [3]. In particular, gabion walls control erosion, provide retaining structures, and help to reduce the velocity of bursting water [3]. Sea buckthorn, a deciduous shrub native to Asia and Europe, is being widely planted to prevent erosion and stabilize slopes at risk of landslides [3]. At the study site for this thesis work (see Chapter 5), Shishper Glacier, many efforts are in place including the improvement of irrigation systems and the planting of alfalfa and poplar cuttings to improve slope stability [3].

A central feature of GLOF-II is conducting trainings targeted towards community members in GLOF-prone areas [4]. The GLOF-II project has conducted mock drills and community awareness sessions for people in target areas. Further trainings aim to improve journalists' knowledge of disaster risk preparedness and to introduce concepts of community resilience.

2.3 Gendered Impacts of Water Scarcity and Disasters

The impacts of natural hazards such as GLOFs have a particularly severe impact on women, particularly poor women. As a result, many development programs have focused specially on including women's needs and utilizing their strengths for climate adaptation.

2.3.1 Sexual and Maternal Health

In the recent monsoon-related floods of 2022, gender-based violence and poor maternal outcomes reached an all-time high in Pakistan [56]. Much of this is due to the destruction of support systems such as domestic violence shelters and hospitals where women previously obtained maternity care [56]. In particular, displaced young women and girls are subjected to sexual violence when they are separated from their male family members who are traditionally responsible for their safety – until they reach the safety of a shelter, they often risk being coerced into sex or falling into the hands of human traffickers [56]. New mothers also have been observed to stop breastfeeding due

to the stress of displacement and lack of privacy in the shelters, leading to additional poor outcomes for them and their children [56]. The lack of access to hospitals and usual maternal care during these disasters also puts expectant and new mothers and their children at risk [56].

2.3.2 Gender Roles in Households and the Labor Market

Traditional household dynamics, especially in high-mountain rural communities, often put women at higher risk compared to their male counterparts. Due to the highly gendered nature of the labor market in Pakistan, women are the first to be let go from jobs during market shocks [115]. In addition, when a household faces monetary stress, women tend to enter the labor market, which increases their total amount of work including household chores [115]. Agriculture is one of the biggest employers of women – 65% of all women who work, work in agriculture [115]. However, despite the disproportionate amount of physical labor performed by Pakistani women, they are often locked out of decision-making at all levels [10]. In major water-related bureaucracies, women make up only 2-5% of the staff and occupied 0 senior positions [10]. And households are traditionally patriarchal, where men make most decisions regarding the family.

In rural high-mountain communities, the responsibility of managing household water resources often traditionally falls on women [10]. Because of the difficult terrain, infrastructure in the mountains is under-developed compared to the lowlands; therefore, in many areas in the H-K, it is customary for women to travel long distances to fetch water and fodder for fuel for their households [158]. In times of food scarcity, they are often given less to eat and drink, leading to an increased tendency for malnutrition and health problems [60]. This exacerbates the physical labor that they must perform, putting additional strain on their bodies, which already carry and give birth to children [60]. A natural consequence of increasing women's workload is withdrawing children from school to assist with tasks; female children are usually the first to be withdrawn from school [60]. Preventing girls' access to education is well-known to cause additional gender inequities because lack of education disallows women to pursue more high-paying jobs and achieve economic independence.

2.3.3 Social Vulnerabilities and Strengths

Climate disasters often increase women's vulnerabilities. Women and children are 14 times more likely to die during climate-related disasters [115]. When water is scarce, women face otherwise avoidable health issues such as urinary tract infections and uterus prolapse from carrying heavy loads of water over long distances [10]. When disasters hit, they are also put in charge of taking care of children and livestock, and are responsible for the greater part of emergency preparedness, leading them to neglect their own needs [14].

Despite this, gender equality is slowly improving both in highland communities and in South Asia in general. A generational divide in the perceptions of women's strengths and weaknesses in Hunza Valley, Gilgit-Baltistan demonstrates how education is improving women's confidence and sense of agency [83]. In this community, which is highly vulnerable to GLOFs from the nearby Shishper Glacier, both men and older women said in interviews that menstruation and pregnancy made women physically weak [83]. Older women also said they were not emotionally or physically prepared for disaster because they were too weak to run and be agile. Their confidence was limited because of their financial dependence on the men in their households and lack of access to emergency resources [83]. One woman said, "I think women cannot do anything unless men are...there for them. They cannot make any decision on their own; they are not as brain smart as men" [83]. However, a stark difference in attitude emerged in young women aged 17-25; many were college-educated and believed "We are equal to boys...We are educated. We can understand any situation, make decisions, and act accordingly without much fear" [83]. One man even said, "Women nowadays are more competent than men. If they are surpassing men in different fields, including disaster management, there is nothing wrong with it. If anything, we appreciate and encourage our daughters" [83]. Older women also acknowledged the role that education had played in the empowerment of their daughters and granddaughters, and expressed that if they had had access to trainings and education, they may feel less paralyzed and afraid during disasters [83].

Women are usually the main disseminators of information amongst other women [115]. They are more likely to take emergency precautions than men and carry important ancestral knowledge that help them prepare for emergencies [83]. When women are empowered during disasters, it allows men to be less stressed and over-stretched during disasters [83]. The importance of education for girls and women cannot be overstated; it is the foundation for reaching gender equality and better community resilience to environmental disasters. It is therefore essential for women's needs and participation to be prioritized by projects like GLOF-II that provide trainings and awareness sessions to communities affected by GLOFs.

2.4 Chapter Conclusion

Pakistan only contributes 1% of anthropogenic carbon dioxide emissions, but it is the eighth most vulnerable country to climate change [121]. The fifth most populous country, it is home to the largest number of glaciers of any country on Earth. However, it is suffering greatly from the effects of climate change.

In Pakistan, catastrophic floods from glacial lakes and monsoon rains have caused billions of dollars in damages and indescribable pain and suffering. In parallel, the growing problem of water scarcity looms over Pakistan's agricultural industry. Due to climate change, it is expected that current systems in place to deal with water insecurity will not be sustainable in the long term. Scholars have posited that watershed-level approaches are necessary to manage the Indus basin, which feeds most of Pakistan. However, because the Indus is shared by multiple countries, governments will have to work together to share resources multilaterally rather than operating under the assumption that each of their interests are competing [137]. Due to the political tensions between nations whose borders fall within the H-K region, the creation of such types of agreements is both unprecedented and may be unlikely to occur in the near future.

The hydrology of the H-K region is of great importance to the water systems

of Asia because most of the continent's major river systems originate from these mountains. As such, the stewardship of water resources in the mountain highlands is extremely important for the health of the water systems downstream in the lowland plains. The stress of water and consequent food shortages mainly falls on women due to patriarchal family structures and gender roles; climate-related disasters also make women even more vulnerable. In particular, increasingly severe GLOFs in the northern regions of Pakistan have caused widespread destruction, displacement, and mental health crises. The education of girls and women is critical for better disaster response and for their own safety, wellbeing, and mental health.

Multilateral, inter-national cooperation is the only way to ensure that all people who rely on the water systems originating from the Himalayas will have access to water in the future. As of today, mutually beneficial multilateral agreements between governments in South Asia have been rare; however, because water is a shared resource, cooperation is in the self-interest of every South Asian nation.
Chapter 3

Glacier-Related Hazards

In this chapter, we will discuss two types of glacier-related hazards that have been commonly observed in the Himalayas: surges and GLOFs (glacial lake outburst floods). While GLOFs generally occur over short timescales (i.e., hours to days), surge behavior can occur over months to years. GLOFs are therefore much more destructive to human lives, and are notoriously difficult to predict. Although surges pose less of an urgent danger to downstream residents than GLOFs, they are intricately linked with GLOFs due to their ability to create new glacial lakes and change the underlying landscape. Understanding surge behavior is therefore also important in predicting GLOFs and how glaciers may respond to climate change.

3.1 Anatomy of Mountain Glaciers

Alpine glaciers typically exhibit a general "anatomy" which is primarily composed of two zones: the accumulation and ablation zone (Figure 3-1). The accumulation zone is generally at a higher elevation than the ablation zone; the colder temperatures at higher elevations reduce melting in this zone. In contrast, warmer temperatures at lower elevations mean that greater mass loss occurs in the lower-elevation ablation zones [125]. The line between the accumulation and ablation zones is called the equilibrium line or the firn line [125]. Between winter and summer seasons, the equilibrium line may move up and down as the size of the accumulation and ablation zones change.



Figure 3-1: Anatomy of a glacier [125]

For the Karakoram region in particular, movement of snow via avalanches due to steep and rugged terrain can complicate the definitions of mass accumulation; this is sometimes referred to as "avalanche nourishment" [65]. These glaciers tend to start with steep icefalls and avalanche cones which converge to the main ice mass of the glacier [63]. Glaciers that are avalanche-nourished often have no clearly delineated accumulation zone [65]. The extremely rugged, avalanche-prone terrain of Karakoram glaciers, as well as their remote location and high elevation, makes establishing in-situ monitoring programs very difficult. This leads to a major scarcity of data that makes studying the region challenging.

3.2 Surges

Glacial surges are one of glaciology's greatest mysteries. Surging is a rare but significant phenomenon that affects about 1% of glaciers worldwide [140]. During surges, glaciers move at uncharacteristically high speeds 5-100 times their normal speed, often appearing to be unrelated to external triggers [96]. These periods of movements also cause significant advancements of the terminus of the glacier. Surges are separated by longer, "quiescent" periods and often occur cyclically with semi-regular intervals between surging events [96]. It is generally agreed that surges occur due to some sort of hydrological, thermal, or mechanical conditions or properties at the bed of the glacier; this is supported by the fact that surges have been observed to cluster in geographic areas [96]. Clusters of glaciers that exhibit surge behavior fit in well-defined "climatic envelopes" that exhibit optimal temperature and precipitation ranges [140]. Glacier size and slope may also play a role in surging, with longer and larger glaciers as well as shallower slopes showing significant correlation with surging activity [140]. Areas where glacial surges have been commonly observed include but are not limited to Alaska-Yukon, Arctic Canada, parts of Greenland, Iceland, Svalbard, and in mountain ranges such as the Tien Shan and Karakoram in Asia [140]. However, the wide diversity of surge-type glaciers suggests that many factors can contribute to surge behavior [140]. Understanding the changes in basal conditions that lead to surging is a difficult task, but an increased understanding of surging has the potential to elucidate a variety of subglacial processes that affect estimates of glacial runoff and sea level rise.

3.2.1 Suggested Mechanisms for Surging Behavior

Most existing studies that attempt to explain the phenomenon of surging have focused primarily on the hydrological and thermal aspects of basal conditions. Surging can be described as a cyclical process during which a force resisting the glacier flow allows enough glacial mass accumulation to initiate the next surge, during which the resistive energy is released [51]. The resistive processes that dominate the quiescent periods between surges, as well as the factors that trigger surges, could be hydrological (for example, [80]) or thermal – or, more likely, some combination of the two. Generally, the time between surge cycles depends on the rate of accumulation of mass between surge events; a critical potential energy must accumulate in order to trigger another surge [92].

Thermal Conditions and Enthalpic Balance

Studies suggesting a thermal trigger for surging usually propose that rises in temperatures at the base of ice sheets trigger surging motions [126]. Strain heating, which increases as mass accumulation increases the overburden pressure of the glacier, can cause instability and surging when the basal ice is close enough to the melting point [38]. Polythermal conditions at the bed may indicate instability, and the transition zone between cold and warm regions may correspond to the surge front [105]. After basal melting is initiated, water penetration from the subglacial till into crevasses warms the overlying ice, causing further instability [37]. These hypotheses maintain that surges are stopped by periods during which the bed is frozen to the ice. However, clusters of surges have been observed in glaciers in both temperate and colder areas. Surges have also been observed to stop at the peak of summer, when it is clear that the ice is not frozen to the bed (e.g., [26]). Therefore, these proposed thermal triggers require further investigation and are very unlikely to be the sole factor in the initiation of surges.

More recently, enthalpy balance equations have been used to explain surge mechanisms [140]. The idea of an enthalpy-based model encapsulates both latent and sensible heat and potential energy [18]. In glaciers, total enthalpy represents the internal energy of the glacial system, which is a function of ice temperature, volume, and water content [18]. As glaciers flow downwards, gravitational potential energy is converted into frictional heat, which can be in the form of either latent heat (i.e., heat released or stored in a phase change) or sensible heat (i.e., heating that does not result in a phase change) [140]. This process triggers basal melting and increased lubrication at the bed, causing higher velocities in a positive feedback loop [18]. Mass balance equations can also lead to the calculation of a "balance velocity," above which dynamical thinning will occur and below which the glacier will thicken.

[140] also suggest that surges occur in "climate envelopes", or specific ranges of temperature and precipitation, due to mass and enthalpy balances straying from steady-state conditions. Since heat conduction to the atmosphere and subglacial drainage are not efficient within the "optimal surge envelope" of temperature and precipitation, the glacial system oscillates between slow and fast movement to dissipate excess energy [140]. Although these enthalpy and mass balance models are fairly simplistic, they provide a good foundation for future modeling of conditions leading to surges.

Mechanical Conditions

Despite the prevalence of subglacial till underneath surge-type glaciers, few studies have been done on the mechanical drivers of surge instabilities. Minchew and Meyer provide an insight into the mechanics of incipient glacier motion without taking meltwater flux or enthalpic factors (which, when taken alone, cannot fully explain surging) into account [100]. The process starts with a process called dilation, during which grains of till sediment roll over each other, moving from a close-packed arrangement to one that has much more pore space. The dilation of the granular, porous subglacial till decreases the pore water pressure, creating a suction effect which strengthens till and prevents surges [100]. Incipient motion occurs when dynamical thinning of the overlying glacier happens faster than the drops in pore water pressure: dynamical ice thinning decreases the overburden pressure, which reduces effective stress (i.e., the contact stress between grains of till) [100]. Since the change in pore water pressure is happening slowly, it is not able to compensate for the decrease in ice overburden stress, which is what allows the effective stress to decrease. The decrease in effective stress decreases the shear strength of the till, which results in initiation of surging. This mechanism depends on the till having low enough hydraulic permittivity to allow drops in pore water pressure to occur slower than dynamical thinning. Because this study does not take into account the evolution of the subglacial hydrological system (i.e., channels and drainage systems that may form and close), it cannot explain the termination of surges, but provides a good insight into mechanical processes that may explain incipient surge motion.

Subglacial Hydrology

Subglacial hydrology has provided more compelling explanations for surge behavior. The prevailing theory maintains that the transition between an efficient, channelized system to an inefficient "linked cavity" system drives up water pressure and lubricates the ice-bed interface, triggering a surge [80]. During surge events, a distributed drainage system maintains a high basal water pressure, while quiescent periods are characterized by efficient, rapid transportation of subglacial water [27]. The downside of this explanation is that it is somewhat simplistic and does not account for how incipient surge motion is initiated or terminated. A further discussion of the role of subglacial hydrology in surging will be presented in Chapter 4.

3.2.2 Surges in the Karakoram

The Karakoram region of the Himalayas is one of many areas where clusters of surges have been observed [140]. The glaciers of the Karakoram region in particular are an extremely important source of water for local ecosystems and people [29]. It is crucial to form a better understanding of glacial surges in the Karakoram because they have strong implications for landscape evolution [70] and frequently reroute meltwater and create ice-dammed lakes which can lead to dangerous glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) [22]. The interactions of surges and the dangers of GLOFs will be discussed next in Section 3.3.

Studies of the Karakoram have been conducted by Western scientists since the 1800s (e.g., [58]). In the past century, surges in the Karakoram have been observed to destroy villages, forests, and agricultural land, causing terror to local residents [44]. Although the spatial occurrence of surges has remained relatively constant, the temporal frequency has increased since the 1960s, likely corresponding with the

Karakoram's slight positive trend in overall mass balance [41]. As climate change progresses, it is likely that surge behavior will become more common amongst glaciers [41]. Indeed, a recent surge of Shishper Glacier in northern Pakistan, combined with an unusual warm spell, created conditions that led to a massive GLOF that destroyed a major highway in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan [26].

Although some have suggested that surge-type behavior is primarily exhibited by tributary-type glaciers (e.g., [64]), other studies have disagreed as to whether the Karakoram's surges are largely thermally or hydrologically controlled [120]. It is also suggested that a continuum of basal conditions exist across the Karakoram [64]. As a result, it is likely that a combination of environmental factors triggers surge activity; short-term instances of high-altitude warming likely trigger clusters of surges [64] which seems plausible given that occurrence in certain "climatic envelopes" has been shown to correspond strongly with surge activity [140].

3.3 Glacial Lake Outburst Floods

Glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) are outburst floods caused by failure of dams that contain glacial lakes. GLOFs are dangerous phenomena during which millions of cubic meters of water rush downstream, destroying infrastructure, livelihoods, and communities below [94]. Examples of the suffering that have been caused by GLOFs have been discussed in Chapter 2.2.

GLOFs have been observed to occur globally wherever there are alpine (mountainous) glaciers. The prevalence of glacial lakes and the occurrence of GLOFs have both increased greatly in recent decades [94], as warming temperatures contribute to greater glacial melt and larger glacial lake volume. However, GLOFs have proven difficult to study due to their unpredictability and the difficulty of making in-situ observations in remote and dangerous environments. Therefore, much of the study of GLOFs today relies on remote sensing and modeling.

GLOF inventories have provided a comprehensive way to keep track of changes in glacial lake frequency, size, and volume - for example, [113] and [94]. These inventories

are created using satellite imagery via methods such as supervised and unsupervised image classification or thresholding of indexes such as NDWI which identify bodies of water [68]. Some studies have also used the shallow-ice approximation (SIA), which only considers gravitational driving stresses and basal drag, to predict overdeepening sites where glacial lakes may form [144]. Other studies predict the potential impact of GLOFs by applying multi-factor risk criteria to each glacial lake [144, 133, 148]. Finally, hydrodynamic modeling using engineering softwares such as HEC-RAS can be used to investigate flow paths and predict impacts of glacial lakes should they undergo dam failure [133].

In particular, the retreat of glaciers in the central and eastern Himalayas has led to greater accumulation of meltwater between the glacier terminus and the frontal moraine of many glaciers [94]. The entrainment of sediment as the flood progresses downstream can increase the flood volume by orders of magnitude [134]. Although the greatest number of GLOFs have been observed in the eastern Himalaya, they also occur frequently in the Karakoram region and are frequently associated with surging there (e.g., [128, 26]). Furthermore, GLOFs are predicted to increase in frequency and severity in the Karakoram [22]. This is a region that is already vulnerable to damage due to high population densities near the mountains. Therefore, it is of the utmost importance to improve our understanding of GLOFs both in the eastern and Karakoram regions of the Himalayas so we can predict the timing and severity of these events.

3.3.1 Classification of Glacial Lakes

Glacial lakes can be dammed by a variety of materials, including glacial moraine of varying strengths (i.e., "moraine-dammed") or other glaciers (i.e, "ice-dammed"). In both cases, meltwater from the source glacier is forced to accumulate behind the natural dam, forming a glacial lake that can be more or less stable depending on the mechanical strength of the dam and the pressure exerted on it by the lake water [111]. While other types of glacial lakes exist, such as kettle lakes, we will neglect them in our summary here because they exist in valleys rather than in the mountains and do not exhibit outburst flooding.

Ice-dammed lakes

Ice-dammed lakes are a common category of glacial lakes. Aptly named, they are dammed by ice [111]. In this work, when we refer to "ice-dammed lakes" we speak of lakes that are dammed by another glacier.

Jökulhaups are a particular type of GLOF resulting from an ice-dammed subglacial lake, generally occurring in Iceland, with the most famous ones occurring in the Vatnajökull ice cap [28]. In general, the volumetric discharge of jökulhlaups increases slowly over time, until it peaks and then abruptly stops. Jökulhlaups usually originate from marginal, englacial, and subglacial lakes, meaning lakes that are contained inside or underneath a glacier [28]. Generally they are caused by permanent geothermal heat sources or volcanic activity [28].

Moraine-dammed lakes

A great number of glacial lakes worldwide are moraine-dammed [111]. Glacial moraine, or till, is the highly heterogeneous rocky and sedimentary material left behind from glacial movement [129]. Due to its heterogeneity, the strength of moraine dams is difficult to measure and predict [36]. Mechanical failure can result from sedimentary erosion, also referred to as "piping", or by overtopping of the dam [24].

The most common mechanism leading to glacial lake outbursts is by a breach of the moraine that dams the lake [24]. The occurrence of a dam breach is dependent on both the stability of the dam and the probability of a triggering event [132]. The moraine dams can fail by two common mechanisms: 1) overtopping, and 2) piping due to seepage [24]. Failure generally depends on the frictional qualities of the moraine and the pressure of the lake water causing internal erosion.

Most studies on moraine dam failure focus on overtopping rather than seepage failure. GLOFs resulting from moraine dam failure are usually triggered by events such as avalanches, calving from the glacial snout, earthquakes, and severe precipitation [111]. These events result in rapid volume transfer into the glacial lake that results in a series of seiche waves that can lead to overtopping if the dam freeboard (i.e., vertical distance between the lake surface and crest of the dam) is small [157]. Other volume-transfer events include influx of water from storms as well as the release of subglacial or englacial reservoirs [157]. In addition, earthquakes can cause mechanical failure of moraine dams which lead to catastrophic flooding downstream. However, [148] note that due to climate change-driven destabilization and melting of permafrost and steep glaciers, avalanches will occur more frequently in the future and must be closely studied as they will be a dominant trigger for glacial outburst flooding in the future. Climate change may also drive the degradation and melting of ice-core moraines, which will weaken the moraine and cause the crest of the dam to sink, thus decreasing the freeboard and increasing the risk of flooding [157].

3.3.2 GLOFs in the Karakoram Region

A particular type of GLOF that is largely unique to the Karakoram, as opposed to the eastern Himalayas in India, Nepal, and Bhutan, originate from ice-dammed lakes associated with advancing glaciers [66]. Mostly occurring in the upper Indus and Yarkand basins, these ice-dammed GLOFs have a great potential for destruction [66]. Although a spectrum of ice-dammed, moraine-dammed, and mixed ice and moraine-dammed lakes exists in the Karakoram, all of the largest most dangerous floods reported have originated from ice-dammed lakes [66]. Most of these are comprised of a main lake dammed by ice from a "lateral valley" [66, 71]. Many glacial lakes in the Himalayas of India, Nepal, and Bhutan are caused by retreating glaciers; however, these Karakoram lakes are caused by impoundments of meltwater by advancing glaciers. Because of this, these lakes are often short-lived and only last for months or years, as opposed to other glacial lakes which accumulate in static depressions in the landscape or ice [66]. They are more often characterized by sudden drainage under the ice dam rather than overtopping or drainage around the margins of the dam [66]. In the upper Indus basin, no floods have been observed as a result of sudden mass transfer into the lake – i.e., avalanches or landslides – suggesting that factors internal to the glacier system are at play [66]. For example, it has been suggested that water pressure exceeding the yield strength of the ice dam may cause subglacial drainage, but there is little evidence to support this claim [57]. It is more likely that these lakes drain through exploitation of already existing drainage systems [66]. In fact, it is hypothesized that the drainage of water through existing subglacial hydrological systems leads to more rapid drainage and larger outburst floods [66].

The prevalence of glacial surge behavior in the Karakoram leads to an increased incidence of GLOFs and smaller drainage events from temporary ice-dammed lakes. These GLOFs and drainage events can have devastating effects on the communities downstream (discussed in Chapter 2).

3.4 Chapter Conclusion

GLOFs and surges are connected phenomena that occur commonly in the Karakoram range of the Himalayas. Many GLOFs in the Karakoram come from ice-dammed lakes that are created through the impoundment of meltwater by a surging glacier in a lateral (adjoining) valley. Surges are one of the most mysterious phenomena in glaciology, and are poorly understood. There have been a variety of theories as to how they start and stop, which we have discussed in Section 3.2.1. While none of the proposed mechanisms can fully explain surge behavior, it is likely that it is caused by a combination of mechanisms and environmental conditions.

Although they occur commonly in moraine-dammed lakes in the eastern Himalayas, most GLOFs in the Karakoram come from ice-dammed lakes. Even more so than moraine-dammed GLOFs, it is likely that ice-dammed GLOFs occur due to some subglacial hydrological factors. However, very little is known about what really happens when these lakes burst through their ice dams. The field of subglacial hydrology may be able to shed more light on the factors behind such rapid lake drainages.

Chapter 4

A Primer on Subglacial Hydrology

Subglacial hydrology is the study of the flow of water beneath and through a glacier. A growing field within glaciology, subglacial hydrology can provide insights into the movement of glaciers and the occurrence of glacial hazards. In particular, subglacial hydrology provides an important control on sliding velocity of glaciers. This is highly important in the context of sea level rise; subglacial hydrology has been shown to play an important role in how fast Greenlandic and Antarctic ice sheets slide into the ocean, thus accelerating rising oceans [162]. In addition, changes in subglacial hydrology are implicated in surging behavior [128, 25, 100] and glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) [128].

Subglacial processes are still very poorly understood by science, especially in alpine environments. Most existing observations of sub- and englacial hydrology are based on studies in Greenland and Antarctica and must be extrapolated to alpine environments due to the difficulty of obtaining in-situ measurements, especially in High Mountain Asia [150]. As a result, models must attempt to fill our gap in understanding in the alpine glacial environment until more observations are available. In this chapter, we will discuss methods for observing and modeling subglacial hydrology, as well as our current understanding of the physical systems themselves.

4.1 Subglacial Drainage Networks

The seasonal evolution of the subglacial drainage network is a fascinating process with many feedback loops. Much of the evolution of these systems is driven by changes in temperatures across seasons. Understanding how subglacial hydrology modulates the seasonal speed-ups of glaciers can help us understand and predict ice mass balance in the long term [124]. In addition, it can help understand the seasonal timing of GLOFs and surges. The processes governing the evolution of subglacial drainage networks are discussed below.

4.1.1 Delivery of Meltwater to the Bed

During summer melt seasons, a great amount of melt is generated at the surface of glaciers [21, 162]. In 1986, Iken and Bindschadler showed that there is a strong and instantaneous coupling of surface and basal meltwater in alpine glaciers [72]. [141] used GPS tracking and inSAR remote sensing data to show that the transportation from the surface to the bed is fast enough that it can cause basal lubrication even across the thicker Greenland glaciers. [141] also showed that supra-glacial lakes may play a crucial role in "priming" the conduits that link the surface and base of ice sheets.

The strong coupling between surface and basal meltwater environments has provided justification to make model assumptions that all meltwater input to the bed (i.e., surface melt, rainwater, aquifer contributions) are instantaneous. Indeed, this assumption is employed in the SHAKTI model, which will be described in Section 4.3.1. However, englacial water storage can delay the delivery of surface water to the base. Observations in Greenland have revealed that long-term water storage happens in englacial firm aquifers, especially in glacial accumulation zones [82]. In addition, water can remain at the surface in damaged crevasses as observed in Store Glacier in Greenland [82]. This water can remain for months to years [34], and may or may not be hydraulically connected to the subglacial drainage system [82]. Observational studies of englacial water storage have seldom been done in alpine contexts, and never before with radar sounding. Because of this, we do not know much about the size or capacity of firn aquifers in alpine glaciers.

Seasonal meltwater storage can also occur in moulins (supraglacial lakes) on the surface of glaciers [42]. In Greenland and Antarctica, water pressure exerted by moulins has also been observed to cause full-thickness hydrofractures that allow delivery of the full or partial lake volume to the subglacial environment [35]. The nature of these hydrofractures is connected to the stress and velocity regime of the glacier, as well as the presence of pre-existing moulins [35]. In addition, a model developed by [85] suggests that lake hydrofractures dominate surface drainage pathways at higher elevations in West Greenland, but crevasses drain most of the surface water at lower elevations. Regardless of the complexities of hydrofracture formation in ice sheets and glaciers, it is clear that they provide a critical hydraulic link between the surface and the bed.

It is very likely that some long-term water storage occurs in Himalayan glaciers, as the presence of moulins and damaged crevassed areas have been well-documented there. However, there have been few to no studies on the degree of supraglacial and englacial water storage in alpine environments, so the timescale and volume of this storage is largely unknown.

4.1.2 Components of the Subglacial Drainage Network

The processes of channel formation and drainage network evolution are of great relevance in this work, as we model the evolution of the subglacial network in Chapter 5. The opening and closing of channels are governed by material properties of the ice and bed, while the nature of the drainage system is controlled by complex feedback loops governed by spatial and temporal water pressure gradients. The various modes of subglacial transport (channels, canals, sheets, cavities, and porous flow) are shown in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1: Network types as illustrated by [50]. Efficient drainage networks are characterized by clear-cut channels, while inefficient drainage networks are characterized by sheetlike or distributed drainage geometries. Canals, which contain both channels and porous media, exist in a gray area between the two classifications [50]. Efficient vs. inefficient systems are discussed in 4.3.

Röthlisberger and Nye Channels

Röthlisberger first introduced the idea of subglacial water channels cut into the ice in 1972 [130]. These channels are often referred to as R-channels. This idea was then elaborated upon by Nye, who proposed channels incised in bedrock (N-channels) [114]. Röthlisberger channels, which are either circular or semicircular, grow or shrink based on the balance between 1) opening of the channel by melt and 2) the closing of the channel by inward creep [52]. This creep is governed by Glen's flow law $\dot{\epsilon} = A\tau^n$, a constitutive relationship describing the strain rate of ice based on its material properties and stress regime. Melt opening of the channel is governed by frictional heating from turbulent water flow [130]. The turbulent water releases gravitational potential energy as heat, and the resultant melt opens the channel. The consequent melting is dependent on water flux, effective pressure, and the latent heat of fusion for water.

Cavity Formation and the Linked-Cavity System

Cavities can form when ice flows over rough bedrock. The spaces are created on the leeward (downstream) side of any small obstacles, and can become part of the subglacial drainage network when they are filled with water [52]. The existence of cavities in a subglacial system can allow for a linked-cavity system rather than a channelized drainage system which is solely made of Röthlisberger channels [80]. The linked-cavity system, as the name suggests, consists of large cavities linked by small drainage channels between them [52]. The main difference between a channelized vs. linked-cavity system is the relationship between effective pressure N and water flux Q: for Röthlisberger channels, $\frac{\partial N}{\partial Q} > 0$, but for the linked-cavity system, $\frac{\partial N}{\partial Q} < 0$. Let's take a closer look at why this relationship is different for each system.

For channelized systems (i.e., Röthlisberger channels), increases in flux lead to channel opening, since the melt rate m is proportional to the flux:

$$mL = Q\left(\phi + \frac{\partial N}{\partial s}\right) \tag{4.1}$$

where L is the latent heat of fusion and N is the effective pressure. As the channel widens with increasing flux, the water pressure p_w decreases since there is now more space in the channel. Because lower-pressure water does not support as much of the overburden weight, there is an increase in the effective pressure N. Therefore, we see a positive relationship between flux Q and effective pressure N, and a negative relationship between channel water pressure p_w and flux Q. As a result, Röthlisberger channels tend to form in arborescent (tree branch-like) networks, where larger, low-pressure channels form preferentially and can out-compete smaller, high-pressure ones. This can be seen clearly in valley glaciers, where steeper pressure gradients at the lateral margins give rise to a system of a few very large channels fed by smaller tributaries [50].

In contrast, the linked-cavity system exhibits a negative relationship between effective pressure and channel water flux. The cavities store most of the water in this type of system, and channels between them play a smaller role. It is then a little more simple to see that when the flux through a cavity increases, cavity pressure also increases, thus reducing the overburden (effective) pressure N.

The channelized system and the linked-cavity system are two idealized end-member cases - in real life, we can see a variety of systems that fall in between the two cases. Since water flows down effective pressure gradients (i.e., high to low water pressure), the system will be in equilibrium if the effective pressure is the same everywhere. However, the system can switch or move between states depending on $\frac{\partial N}{\partial Q}$. An important factor to consider is that the effective pressure N for the linked-cavity system is dependent on sliding velocity u - so if u is large enough, the system will move from channel drainage to cavity drainage [54]. For a more detailed mathematical explanation of these processes, please reference [52], pages 55-61.

Soft and Hard Beds

Until this point, we have primarily considered subglacial hydrology as understood for a rigid underlying bed. This is because most studies (both observational and modeling) of seasonal evolution of subglacial hydrology consider only the case of a rigid bed. Assuming that a glacier bed is rigid (i.e., solid bedrock) means that all subglacial drainage channels are cut solely into the ice rather than the ground below. However, many glacier beds are actually made up of deformable till and sediments, which also can hold and store water and be eroded to form channels [17]. This is because glaciers tend to cause erosion of the bed: they generate boulders which are ground into smaller rocks and a range of sediments of various sizes [52]. This heterogeneous mix of rock and sediment is known as glacial till.

The presence and properties of deformable till have many implications for glacier and ice sheet flow and instability (for example, in surge behavior described in Section 3.2.1). The sliding velocity of the ice can strongly effect the subglacial hydrology for example, faster velocities can lead to cavity formation. However, the properties of the till itself have important implications for subglacial channelization in a soft bed environment.

It has been observed that creep of till and transport of sediment plays an impor-

tant role in controlling sediment channelization beneath glaciers [16]. Unconsolidated sediment is widely observed under glaciers in both Greenland and Antarctica (for example, [135, 86, 52]). The subglacial network and its seasonal evolution is heavily dependent on the properties of the underlying till, as glaciers resting on soft beds can have canals, macroporous films, and anastomosing channels [61]. This generates a spectrum of complicated relationships between basal sliding, till water pressure, and the resultant properties of the subglacial drainage network [61].

Whether or not the till can deform is dependent on the Coulomb yield criterion, which describes failure at yield stress τ_0 of an isotropic material with cohesion c_0 , effective pressure N, and friction angle ψ :

$$\tau_0 = c_0 + N \tan \psi \tag{4.2}$$

If this critical yield stress τ_0 is reached, the material will deform. When N increases, the frictional resistance to flow will increase, thus causing the strain rate $\dot{\epsilon}$ to decrease. [31] proposes a power law relation for this behavior:

$$\dot{\epsilon} = A(\tau - \tau_0)^a N^{-b} \tag{4.3}$$

where a and b are positive, non-dimensional parameters and A is a constant dependent on pressure. Here we can also see that strain rate $\dot{\epsilon}$ increases when N decreases, and vice versa. More shear stress also causes a higher strain rate in the till.

To conclude, when the yield stress of till is exceeded, the material undergoes plastic deformation, which can result in canal or channel formation. This yield stress is dependent on the properties of the till as well as effective pressure N. Of course, N, which describes the contact force between till particles, is also dependent of the pressure of the water in the till.

Sedimentary Canals

Canals are channels that have an ice roof (i.e., they are underneath the glacier) and a sediment floor (Figure 4-2). When modeling this system, we consider both



Figure 4-2: Cross-sectional illustration of a canal (ice roof, till floor) from [53]

melt opening and ice creep on the roof, and sediment erosion and till creep on the floor of the canal [153]. Mathematical analysis of these processes suggests that for soft-bedded valley glaciers, Röthlisberger channels may dominate the steeper areas, while shallower slopes will favor canal drainage [50].

Besides sediment creep and transport, which are complicated processes on their own, porous flow must also be considered. The flow of water in a porous medium goes from areas of high hydraulic head (potential) to low hydraulic head. However, this is limited by the transmissivity K of the material, so that flow is governed by

$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial t} = \frac{K}{S_s} \nabla^2 h \tag{4.4}$$

where h is hydraulic head, t is time, and S_s is "specific storage", a parameter dependent on aquifer porosity and compressibilities of the aquifer and the fluid [50]. We can see from Equation 4.4 that water will flow faster where the hydraulic transmissivity is higher and the difference in head is larger.

All of this is presented to the reader simply to demonstrate that the presence of a soft deformable till underneath a glacier can introduce non-trivial effects into the subglacial environment. We will now see how this can affect the evolution of subglacial drainage from season to season.

4.1.3 Seasonal Evolution of the Drainage Network

Numerous studies have shown that the velocity of glaciers increases during melt seasons (for example, [124, 162, 61, 26]). It has been well-established that these summer speed-ups are due to an increased delivery of water to the bed of the glacier, which increases water pressure, lubricating the ice and the bed [162, 62]. However, bed lubrication has a more complicated relationship with the amount of meltwater reaching the bed, since the subglacial network adapts and responds to changes in meltwater input.

During the winter, drainage paths are closed because there is very little water flow to resist creep closure [62]. This gives rise to a system with low hydraulic transmissivity with few channels and connections. Spring and summer bring warmer temperatures, which lead to surface melt that migrates down to the bed [62]. The melt at the bed is very high-pressure due to the low transmissivity of the drainage network – the water has nowhere to go. This high-pressure environment leads to bed lubrication and speed-ups as mentioned earlier (the mechanisms that link highpressure lubrication to higher sliding velocities will be elaborated upon in Section 4.1.4). [61] has also proposed that basal water is stored in the subglacial environment during the melt season; as the water pressure increased, they observed that discharge from the bed increased as the system reorganized. They also observed that water was stored in subglacial sediments, cavities, and the braided system of channels during the summer - see Figure 4-3. Diurnal (day-scale) variations have also been thought to be accommodated by moulins [42]. Along with fast flow comes shear-induced till dilation and glacial uplift [61].

The late summer is quite different from the spring and early summer. Recalling Equation 4.1, we understand that melt opening is increased with greater flux: as more water enters the system, more channels are opened and the system becomes more efficiently connected. So long as high fluxes continue, melt opening will exceed creep closure, thus keeping the channels open. This means that the drainage system is now able to quickly shuttle large fluxes through, which allows it to return to a low-



Figure 4-3: Schematic diagram of the seasonal evolution of channels in a soft-bedded glacier in Iceland, presented by [61].

pressure state. This then causes a reduction in lubrication and slow-down of sliding velocities. Every now and then, when the input exceeds the increased capacity of the summer system, it may return to a high-pressure state [61]. In the summer, when high shearing occurs, the till undergoes cycles of dilation and compaction. During dilation, pore spaces grow and the pressure inside them decreases, pulling in additional water into the till [100]. When the glacier stops moving and the till undergoes compaction again, this water is discharged from the till [61].

As temperatures become colder in the autumn to winter seasons, surface melting decreases and so does the flux through the subglacial system. Creep closure becomes the dominant mechanism and the system transitions back to the less-connected state. As the system contracts, water is discharged from the ice-bed interface [34]. Because it does not have the capacity to handle much flux, the winter state is more sensitive to short (dayslong) periods of warmth during autumn and winter, which can lead to abrupt drainages [61].

4.1.4 Sliding Laws

Basal slip is an important boundary condition on ice sheet models; unlike for ice shelves, which float on water, ice sheets and glaciers lie on solid bedrock or till, thus introducing basal shear stress τ_b and basal velocity u_b and their interactions. In addition, basal sliding is correlated with cavity formation and size in the subglacial system, which can introduce feedbacks to the subglacial hydrology-sliding system. Understanding how ice slides across deformable and non-deformable beds has been a subject of much study in past decades, and there have been a number of mathematical analyses done to describe it.

The first sliding law was proposed by Weertman in 1957 [155]. Weertman considered a very idealized model of glacier beds in which bed roughness is represented by equal-size cubes that water flows around (Figure 4-4). His formulation considered two major concepts:

- 1. Water film: Assuming that for a temperate glacier, the temperature T is very close to the melting temperature of ice T_M , a film of water will form at the ice-bed interface due to frictional heating and pressure.
- 2. **Regelation:** Because the system is so close to T_M , water will melt on the upstream side of obstacles, where lots of frictional heating happens, and then re-freeze once it reaches the lower-pressure side of the obstacle.

However, there are many factors that contribute to the complexity of an accurate sliding law. The heterogeneity of glacial till means that a spectrum of obstacle sizes must be considered [52]. The non-Newtonian flow of ice introduces non-linearity, and if the glacier is temperate as most glaciers are, melting and refreezing of ice and water introduces a variety of mechanical and thermodynamic complexities. Since 1957, many studies have been done that have introduced additional levels of complexity to Weertman's simple model. In general, these laws follow the form $u = U(\tau)$ where u is the sliding velocity and U is some function of basal shear stress τ . Some parameters that can affect the sliding velocity $U(\tau)$ are subglacial water pressure, effective pres-



Figure 4-4: An idealized illustration of bed roughness used in Weertman's hydrology based sliding model [155].

sure, friction coefficient of the underlying bed, ice and water density, and thickness of the water film [52].

It is difficult to validate these models with real-world data because the basal conditions are rarely known [52]. However, there have been a few efforts to constrain these models further using experimental setups - for example, [161]. Understanding basal sliding is still a significant challenge in glaciology today.

Subglacial Hydrology and Sliding

Sliding of ice in temperate environments means that the bed temperature T is close to the melting temperature T_M , so we see a lot of melting and freezing. Subglacial hydrology models can provide good estimates of how much meltwater is being produced from dissipation of mechanical energy [146], and can account for other inputs of water such as rainwater and surface melt that makes its way to the bed. It has been observed that higher basal fluxes lead to higher velocities – for example, in seasonal and diurnal speedups observed in [61, 81, 141, 162]. It is also observed that there are higher sliding velocities near the termini of glaciers, where the bed elevation and hydraulic potential are lowest and subglacial water flux is high [81]. An intuitive representation of the relationship between water flux and the basal sliding coefficient was proposed by [59]:

$$A_b = A_0 \exp\left(\frac{\phi}{\phi_0}\right) \tag{4.5}$$

where A_b is the basal sliding coefficient, ϕ is the subglacial water flux, ϕ_0 is a limit factor on subglacial water flux, and A_0 is the initial value of A_b obtained from the nudging method [81]. This equation shows the basal sliding coefficient increases exponentially with subglacial water flux.

As mentioned earlier, the relationship between subglacial hydrology and sliding is also a complicated one. High flux regimes lead to a negative feedback loop whereby large fluxes lead to increased channelization and the formation of an efficient system that is able to shuttle water out of the system more quickly than it is supplied, thus ultimately decreasing the subglacial water pressure and slowing down ice velocity (discussed in 4.1.3). High subglacial water pressure has also been associated with glacial uplift and bed separation (for example, [72]), and phenomena such as till dilation bring in other feedbacks that have not been well understood thus far.

4.1.5 Differences between the Polar and Alpine Environments

While a great deal of in-situ observation and modeling work has been applied to the subglacial hydrology of the Greenland and Antarctic ice sheets, relatively less work has been done in alpine environments where human settlements lie close to glaciers - for example, the Andes and Himalayan mountain regions. These areas are usually very remote and are characterized by harsh and dangerous field conditions [150]. In addition, the Andes and Himalayan mountain regions are both contained within multiple sovereign nations, which makes it more politically difficult for international collaboration on in-situ data collection to occur.

A key physical difference between alpine glaciers and polar ice sheet glaciers is the slope of the bed on which the glacier rests. Although the land under polar ice sheets is quite heterogeneous, as a general rule most of them tend to be less steep than most alpine environments. This means that in mountain glaciers, hydraulic potential gradients are steeper. This has implications for how the subglacial hydrology develops. Röthlisberger channels typically dominate areas of high potential gradients - we therefore expect to see highly efficient, channelized drainage systems developing in alpine areas [50].

Because of this steep topology, alpine glaciers are more likely to be temperate and polythermal, meaning that some or all parts of the basal environment is raised to the pressure melting point for at least part of the year [67]. In addition, due to the steep topography, the top of the glacier (accumulation zone) may experience different temperatures than the bottom/terminus of the glacier near the ablation zone [67].

4.2 Observing Subglacial Hydrology

Subglacial hydrology is quite difficult to observe with the naked eye because the important systems are underneath glaciers and are physically difficult or impossible to get to. As a result, much of what we know about subglacial hydrology comes from remote sensing and indirect in-situ measurements.

4.2.1 Remote Sensing Methods

Remote sensing has been widely used by geoscientists since the 1970s. Remotelysensed satellite data allows us to access high-resolution images with good temporal resolution even when physical access to a location is difficult or impossible.

Ice-Penetrating Radar

Ice-penetrating radar takes advantage of the differing dielectric properties of water and ice. Water shows a higher reflectivity of radar waves than both water and bedrock, and will clearly show up in radar cross-sectional images (Figure 4-5). For example, [34] used an ice-penetrating radar system to identify catchment-scale areas of englacial water storage (Figure 4-6). They found that the winter hydrological system in the Greenland ice sheet was characterized by a linked-cavity system, whereby the cavities became isolated in the fall as smaller channels closed [34].



Figure 4-5: How EM waves (radar) are scattered by channels vs. canals (i.e., efficient vs. distributed systems) - from [135]

ApRES (Autonomous Phase-Sensitive Radar) is a specific type of ice-penetrating radar that uses radar sounding echos to gather information about melt rates and water content in the glacial subsurface. ApRES systems are set up at the surface of the ice and measure the attenuation of transmitted radar waves [82]. Heat conduction, water content, and scattering all attenuate the ApRES signal and allow researchers to infer where englacial water is stored. For example, [82] found a 1-3m thick layer of surface meltwater stored in a macroporous layer in Store Glacier, Greenland based on scattering losses and radar attenuation from their ApRES deployment. They also found a periodic oscillation in bed echo power which allowed them to conclude that repeated drainage events were coming from the subglacial network [82]. ApRES is a very powerful method for understanding the subglacial hydrological environment; however, the machinery must be placed in the ice by hand during field campaigns,



Figure 4-6: Areas where englacial water is stored, such as in basal troughs and ridges, show higher radar reflectivity in ice-penetrating radar images [34].

which can make it difficult to install them in remote areas.

4.2.2 In-Situ Methods

Boreholes and Dye-Tracing

Drilling boreholes is one of the oldest methods for studying glaciers and subglacial hydrology. Boreholes are generally used to assess water pressure at the bed in various locations, and are the only direct in-situ observations we have available [50]. The disadvantage of boreholes is that they only offer point-scale observations and can be quite expensive to drill, meaning that they do not provide the scale required to develop a complete understanding of subglacial systems [50]. Rather, borehole measurements are used to calibrate models and other catchment-scale observations of subglacial hydrology.

Dye-tracing provides another way to analyze how water travels through the sub-

glacial network. Typically tracers are made of fluorescent dyes, which are injected into a glacier on the surface via a moulin (e.g., [138]). Water samples are continuously taken at the drainage area at the glacier terminus and are tested using fluorometry to determine the residence time of the tracer inside the glacier [33]. For glaciers where the residence time is expected to be high, different tracers can be used, such as sulfur hexafluorine gas (SF₆) which was used in [33] in their study of the Greenland ice sheet. Dye-tracing studies have been carried out in a variety of alpine glacier environments, including in the Nepal Himalaya [98]. By analyzing the residence time and dispersion of the dye (measured at peaks of dye concentration) the characteristics of the drainage system can be inferred [98].



Figure 4-7: Concentration of fluorescent dye at the terminus of Khumbu Glacier, Nepal as measured by [98].

Discharge Analysis

The bulk discharge from a glacier snout can be analyzed to shed light on englacial water storage and residence time. According to [67] water that is stored within a glacier for longer periods of time is ionically enriched due to weathering from the drainage system - for example, Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , SO_4^{2-} and Si can commonly be found in water that has passed through a subglacial water network. Discharge measurements have also been combined with seismic measurements as part of mathematical inversions to determine the characteristics of hydraulic pressure gradients in the subglacial system [108].

Geophysical Methods

In-situ global positioning system (GPS) measurements are used by many studies to track the velocity of ice through time [21, 141, 35]. For example, [21] set up four GPS trackers on an ablation zone on the Greenland ice sheet to track diurnal and seasonal changes in velocity that shed light on the state of the subglacial hydrology system. GPS systems can also provide high-precision elevation measurements; [90] used GPS to track the elevation of ice blisters over time to infer the transmissivity of the subglacial drainage network from the relaxation time of the blisters following supraglacial lake drainage. The Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) similarly uses satellites to track surface velocities.

Seismic monitoring can also provide insight into the hydrology under glaciers. Abrupt movements and drainages can cause increases in seismic activity and are detected by seismometers. For example, [86] used passive seismic monitoring to detect rapid lake drainage and subsequent uplift in Kangerlussuaq, Greenland. They were also able to fit curves to the data to determine the material underneath the glacier based on its seismic response to the lake drainages. Seismometers must be placed manually in the field, and thus can be difficult to use in remote or inaccessible areas.

Geomorphological Observations

A final tool that is often used to understand subglacial hydrology is observation of how previously glaciated landforms have been shaped by the glaciers that used to exist there. In the lowlands of Northern Germany, tunnel valleys, which are hundreds of meters deep, indicate evidence of subglacial, sediment-controlled canals which exhibit an anastomosing pattern [47]. Although the glaciers that once covered these landforms are gone, the canals can offer insight into how those glaciers might have looked like.

4.3 Modeling Subglacial Hydrology

Efforts to model subglacial hydrology began in the 1970s. The first subglacial hydrology models was conceived by Weertman in 1972, who proposed a thin, sheetlike film of water flowing at the base of an ice sheet or glacier [156]. Röthlisberger's 1973 work talked about channels cut into the ice at the base of the glacier, imagining a subglacial drainage system that is in equilibrium between melt opening and creep closure (plastic deformation) [130]. More advanced models have added on complexity, describing the subglacial water system as a network of connected channels and linked cavities [80]. Today, subglacial hydrology models generally establish that the system can be classified either as efficient or inefficient [146]. The difference between these two classifications is expanded upon below and in Figure 4-1.

- Efficient Systems An efficient drainage system is characterized by the presence of channels and canals which are able to quickly and "efficiently" transport water from place to place. This idealized system is also referred to in the literature as "fast" or "channelized" [50].
- **Inefficient Systems** The inefficient drainage system is characterized by the flow of water through flat, distributed geometries such as sheets, cavities, and pore spaces [50]. This type of network system is also referred to as "slow" or "distributed".

Subglacial hydrology models require a few essential elements [50]:

1. Conservation of Mass: Under the assumption that water is incompressible, the amount of water in the system must remain constant. This is expressed in the general form shown below, where h is water volume or depth, q is water flux, and b is a source/sink term.

$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot q = b \tag{4.6}$$

2. Water Sources and Sinks: The total amount of water in the subglacial system is affected by a variety of processes. These can be linearly combined using simple addition of the form:

$$b = b_s + b_e + b_a + b_b \tag{4.7}$$

where b_s is surface runoff from melt and rain, b_e represents englacial processes (e.g., strain heating), b_a are from groundwater discharge/recharge and aquifers, and basal production and consumption is b_b [50]. Discharge to rivers and glacial lakes can also be a factor here.

3. Conservation of Linear Momentum: Conservation of momentum gives us a way to calculate flux and velocity of the water. The general form of momentum conservation is expressed as

$$q = -Kh^{\alpha} (\nabla \phi)^{\beta} \tag{4.8}$$

where K is a rate factor, $\nabla \phi$ is the fluid potential gradient, and α and β are parameters describing the drainage system including its efficiency and Reynolds number of the flow [50].

4. Driving Force for Water Movement: Differences in potential energy drive the movement of water through the subglacial hydrological network. Water travels "down" gradients, from areas of high potential energy to low potential energy. Potential energy gradients are expressed by differences in hydraulic head, which combines water pressure and gravitational potential energy.

4.3.1 SHAKTI: Subglacial Hydrology and Kinetic, Transient Interactions

In Chapters 5 and 6, we will employ the SHAKTI model to simulate the subglacial hydrology of an alpine glacier. SHAKTI is a numerical model first developed in 2018

by Sommers et al. [146]. Unlike its predecessors in subglacial hydrology modeling, SHAKTI is able to model a variety of network systems between the end-member cases of efficient and inefficient drainage systems [146]. It does this by allowing the hydraulic transmissivity to vary spatially and temporally [146]. In addition, the model is able to account for varying laminar, turbulent, and intermediate regimes [146]. An additional benefit to this model is that it can be coupled with ISSM (Ice-Sheet System Model) which allows us to model ice sheet dynamics and glacier flow along with the subglacial hydrology - something that had not been done extensively in the past.

Model Formulation

The model is formulated with several equations and conditions that are applied to the entire domain. The subglacial environment is modeled as a continuous sheet of differing gap height, and the gap height is altered through the processes of melt opening (positive) and creep closure (negative). Channels are represented by chains of large gap height, and cavities are opened by bumps with user-prescribed spacing and size.

The following equations are used in the SHAKTI model:

1. Water mass balance, analogous to Equation 4.6, is modeled as the following:

$$\frac{\partial b}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial b_e}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot q = \frac{\dot{m}}{\rho_w} + i_{e \to b} \tag{4.9}$$

where b is the subglacial gap height, b_e is the volume of water stored englacially per unit area in the bed, q is basal water flux, \dot{m} is basal melt rate, and $i_{e\to b}$ is the rate of flow from the englacial to subglacial system. Similar to Equation 4.6, water is assumed to be incompressible. The model also assumes here that the subglacial gap space is always filled with water.

2. Evolution of gap height, which represents the subglacial geometry, is expressed as

$$\frac{\partial b}{\partial t} = \frac{\dot{m}}{\rho_i} + \beta u_b - A|p_i - p_w|^{n-1}(p_i - p_w)b \tag{4.10}$$

where β is a dimensionless parameter controlling opening by sliding, A is Glen's ice-flow law parameter, p_i is the ice overburden pressure, and p_w is water pressure. The first term in the equation above represents melt (turbulent) opening, the second term represents opening by sliding, and the third term is creep closing.

3. Horizontal basal water flux q can be represented by

$$q = \frac{-b^3 g}{12\nu(1+\omega Re)} \nabla h \tag{4.11}$$

where g is gravitational acceleration, ν is kinematic viscosity of water, ω a dimensionless parameter controlling the transition from laminar to turbulent flow, h is hydraulic head, and Re is the Reynolds number $Re = \frac{|q|}{\nu}$.

4. **Internal melt generation** occurs as a result of geothermal heat flux, frictional heating from sliding, and internal dissipation. It is expressed by

$$\dot{m} = \frac{1}{L} (G + |u_b \cdot \tau_b| - \rho_w gq \cdot \nabla h - c_t c_w \rho_w q \cdot \nabla p_w)$$
(4.12)

where L is is the latent heat of fusion of water, G is geothermal flux, u_b is the ice basal velocity vector, τ_b is the stress exerted by the bed onto the ice, c_t is the change in the melting point caused by pressure, and c_w is the heat capacity of water. The last term provides an adjustment for the energy consumed or released to maintain the temperature of water at its pressure melting temperature. The model neglects heat advection and assumes that the water is always at the pressure melting temperature.

The above equations are combined to obtain a differential equation that can be uniformly applied across the model domain:

$$\nabla \cdot (-K \cdot \nabla h) + \frac{\partial e_v(h - z_b)}{\partial t} = \dot{m} \left(\frac{1}{\rho_w} - \frac{1}{\rho_i} \right) + A|p_i - p_w|^{n-1}(p_i - p_w)b - \beta u_b + i_{e \to b}$$

$$\tag{4.13}$$

where K is the hydraulic transmissivity tensor $K = \frac{b^3g}{12\nu(1+\omega Re)}I$. This is a nonlinear, elliptic partial differential equation. It can also be modified to include an englacial storage parameter, e_v . By default, the englacial storage parameter is set to 0 such that surface water reaches the ice-bed interface instantaneously. However, a spatio-temporally varying englacial residence time can be assigned across the mesh.

Major Assumptions

There are a few major assumptions that SHAKTI uses that must be considered when analyzing model results:

- The underlying bed is non-deforming and made of solid bedrock. We have discussed the difference between hard and soft beds in 4.1.2. Using this assumption means that the model does not account for sediment transport/erosion, till dilation, water storage in sediments, and channelization via sediment creep.
- Any surface meltwater reaches the bed instantaneously. We have seen in 4.1.1 that although there is a strong coupling between surface melting and delivery to the bed, storage in englacial aquifers can complicate this relationship. We can get around this by manually adding residence times in englacial storage. However, this flux is not directly modeled by SHAKTI.
- The model disallows water pressure to be higher than the ice overburden pressure (i.e., negative effective pressure), which prevents uplift of ice or bed hydrofracturing. Ice uplift due to negative effective pressure has been observed in areas and times of very high water pressure, but are complex phenomena that are not yet considered in SHAKTI which is a 2D model.

Even with the limitations posed by these assumptions, SHAKTI is at the cutting edge of subglacial hydrology models. Due to its ability to model a range of viscous regimes (laminar to turbulent) and types of drainage systems (channelized to distributed), it allows us to understand the seasonal evolution of the subglacial drainage system.

Coupling with ISSM

SHAKTI is implemented as part of the open-source Ice Sheet System Model (ISSM), one of the largest, most comprehensive, and commonly-used ice sheet models today. It was developed by NASA's Jet Propulsion Laboratory and the University of California at Irvine [91]. ISSM includes a variety of packages that allow for the modeling of ice flow, calving, thermal modeling, grounding line movement, damage mechanics, glacial isostatic adjustment (GIA), stress balance, and more [91]. The coupling of ISSM and SHAKTI gives the potential to model a variety of very complex glacial phenomena.

4.4 Chapter Conclusion

In this chapter, we discussed a variety of topics in subglacial hydrology that will prove useful for the work that will be undertaken in Chapters 5 and 6 on surging and GLOFs. First, we discussed how to characterize the subglacial drainage network. We saw the journey surface meltwater takes to get to the ice-bed interface. We then looked at the channelized vs. linked-cavity systems that could form in response, and the relationships between effective pressure and flux that then emerge in each of these types of systems. We also considered how the case of a deformable bed may complicate these feedbacks. We then built on these ideas of meltwater delivery and channelization to understand how the drainage system changes across seasons. We learned that spring and summer fluxes cause the system to become more efficient and channelized, whereas the decrease in flux in the fall and winter allow the system to return to an inefficient, distributed system. We then investigated the relationship between system efficiency and basal water pressure, and did a brief exploration of the sliding laws that then determine the basal velocity of the glacier.

In the second section, we briefly discussed observational methods for studying
subglacial hydrology. This included remote sensing methods such as ice-penetrating radar, which have revolutionized the field of subglacial hydrology. We also looked at in-situ methods such as borehole drilling, dye-tracing, discharge analysis, GPS, GNSS, seismic monitoring, and geomorphological observations. For each of these methodologies, we took a look at a case study that used those techniques to learn something new about the subglacial system.

In the final section of this chapter, we discussed a major frontier of subglacial hydrology, and one that we will focus on the most in coming chapters – modeling. We discussed how different subglacial drainage regimes are modeled as "efficient" or "inefficient." We took a look at the essential pieces of a subglacial hydrology model. Lastly, we introduced the SHAKTI model, which we will employ in the research section of this thesis. We talked about SHAKTI's strengths relative to previous subglacial hydrology models and showed the most pertinent elements of the model formulation. We also went over some of SHAKTI's major assumptions and how they could affect the model results.

We have now laid out the conceptual foundation for much of the work in the following chapters. Despite the large amount of knowledge we do have about subglacial hydrology, it is a field that is rife with uncertainty, data scarcity, and unknowns. In the next chapters, we will use the concepts we learned in this chapter to glean insights into the behavior of a glacier in northern Pakistan, Shishper Glacier, which has exhibited both surge behavior and contributes to glacial lake outburst flooding.

Chapter 5

Case Study: Modeling of Subglacial Hydrology in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan

5.1 Introduction

The Himalaya-Karakoram mountain region (High Mountain Asia) is known as the "Third Pole" due to its immense amount of glacial ice mass. The glaciers of High Mountain Asia feed major water systems which provide water and sanitation for over 1 billion people [9]. In particular, the Karakoram is the most heavily glaciated range in Asia [39] and is a critical water source for the country of Pakistan. However, with climate change, mass balance has been decreasing, putting the future of the area at risk. Glacial hazards like glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) are also expected to increase in severity and frequency, causing widespread damage. Understanding the role subglacial hydrology plays in these hazards can help us develop early-warning models for water availability and outburst flooding. Given the relative lack of observational data in High Mountain Asia, modeling provides a way to bridge the gap of understanding. In this work, we use a new, unified subglacial hydrology model SHAKTI to model the seasonal evolution of subglacial drainage in Gilgit-Baltistan,

Pakistan.

Shishper and Muchuwar

The study site for this research is Shishper Glacier (36.40°N 74.61°E) in the eastern Karakoram range in Pakistan (Figure 5-1). It is located in Hunza Valley in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan. Shishper is part of a surge and drainage system with another glacier to its west, called Muchuwar. The two glaciers used to be connected prior to 1950, when the two separated [103]. Shishper's main trunk is approximately 7 km long and is fed by several tributary glaciers at the northeast (upper-elevation) side. In total, the glacier is about 15 km at its longest [23]. The site was chosen due to its surge-type behavior and history of lake drainages (GLOFs). Additionally, there have been several previous studies on the area which can provide data to support and compare models results with [26, 103, 122, 23].



Figure 5-1: Overview of Shishper (blue) and Muchuwar (green) Glaciers in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan - from [23]

Both Shishper and Muchuwar have been subjected to cyclical surges for as long as observations have been recorded, since the early 1900s [23]. Shishper underwent a major surge between 2017-2019 and also in 2000-2001 and 1973 [26]. During this time, Shishper advanced approximately 1.5 km [26]. The surge resulted in the closing of two power plants and the evacuation of nearby villages. The movement of Shishper blocked meltwater flow from Muchuwar Glacier, which created an ice-dammed lake which we will hereafter refer to as Hassanabad Lake (outlined in purple in Figure 5-1). The lake tends to fill up in November-December and in May to a depth of 30-80m, with an estimated volume of 30 million m³ [149]. When the lake drains, the outburst flood drains through the terminus of Shishper and down into the valley below. The maximum river flow observed at the downstream village of Hassanabad is 150-200 m³ s⁻¹, compared to a base flow of about 20 m³ s⁻¹ [149]. After the lake is filled in the winter, drainage occurs more gradually, as opposed to the spring filling which results in a more dramatic drainage of the lake.

A devastating GLOF was most recently recorded in May 2022, resulting in the destruction of part of the Karakoram Highway, and the displacement of about 20 residents of Hassanabad [20]. The Karakoram Highway is the only road connecting Pakistan and China. [144] also suggest that due to warming summer temperatures in the area, another glacial lake may form at the terminus of Muchuwar Glacier, which has the potential to create cascading effects with Shishper Lake in the future. The availability of previous studies on this lake and its behavior of both surging and GLOFs, it provides a data-rich site for modeling.

5.2 Model Setup

As mentioned earlier, modeling of subglacial hydrology is an important method for improving our understanding of water flow underneath Himalayan glaciers, especially given the lack of in-situ measurements in the H-K region. In this work, we use the model SHAKTI: Subglacial Hydrology and Kinetic, Transient Interactions [146], which is implemented as a part of the Ice-Sheet System Model (ISSM). Due to its ability to simulate a variety of flow and drainage regimes, as well as the potential to couple the subglacial hydrology with ice flow dynamics, SHAKTI was the clear model choice for this work. The advantages and disadvantages of the SHAKTI model, as well as the assumptions it is based on, were discussed in Section 4.3.1.

The model domain was set up using the following remotely-sensed inputs:

- Glacier Outline was taken from the Randolph Glacier Inventory (RGI) Version 6.0 [39]. The glacier outlines contained in this dataset are from remotely sensed images recorded in 2016. The GLIMSID for Shishper Glacier is G074619E36437N.
- Surface Elevation was from 90-m TanDEM-X global Digital Elevation Model (DEM). (Figure 5-2a).
- **Bed topography** Bed topography was inferred from surface elevation and bed thickness, which was obtained from [49]'s global glacier thickness dataset, which is publicly available online. Glacier thickness here is calculated using an inversion from ice flow dynamics.
- **Surface Velocity** Surface velocity is obtained from ITS_LIVE [2], a NASA product which provides velocity measurements at 120m spatial resolution for glaciers across the globe.

Since the tributary glaciers are at much higher elevation than the main trunk, they likely do not experience as much liquid precipitation. There is also likely not as much melt generation at these elevations because the bed temperature is much colder there. Although the tributary glaciers may contribute to the mass accumulation of the glacier, their contributions to the subglacial hydrological system are probably less important. Therefore we removed the higher-elevation tributary glaciers from the model domain (Figure 5-3). Modeling the contributions of the tributary glaciers on the subglacial system may be part of future studies as we add complexity to the model.

The outline of the domain is drawn manually to the RGI outline using functionalities of ISSM in MATLAB. Remote sensing imagery was processed and projected to



Figure 5-2: A contour plot of the surface elevation of Shishper Glacier, from the TanDEM-X global DEM.

the 43N UTM (Universal Transverse Mercator) coordinate system using QGIS. These data are interpolated onto an unstructured triangular mesh with 50m resolution. This mesh provides the basis for the P1 triangular Lagrange finite element solver used by SHAKTI. All simulations in this work are carried out with ISSM Version 4.23 using the MATLAB interface on MacOS.

5.3 Preliminary Simulations

The eventual goal of this project is to run transient simulations with continuous changes in meltwater input across seasons. However, transient simulations are computationally expensive and require a good intuition for an appropriate timestep, as SHAKTI does not yet have adaptive timestepping built in. We also need to calibrate the model's initial parameters. To do this, we run a few preliminary simulations for the primary purpose of informing the transient simulations, which will be discussed



Figure 5-3: (a) Surface elevation, (b) glacier thickness, and (c) bed elevation over the modeled domain of Shishper Glacier.

in Section 5.4. These preliminary simulations can also help us better understand the behavior of the model under a few simplified, steady-state conditions. These model runs can also serve as a "sanity check" to make sure the model is behaving as we expect it to.

It is important to note that the models shown here are uncoupled with ice dynamics; that is, the surface and basal velocity were prescribed as 0 across the mesh and across time. While velocities of 0 are unphysical in the real world, especially during melt season, the goal of our first forays into modeling this glacier with SHAKTI is to understand how the subglacial drainage system itself will change seasonally. In previous chapters, we have discussed the feedback systems between the subglacial drainage network and ice flow; however, these feedbacks are not included in these models. This provides us a unique opportunity to gain a true understanding of the hydrological system without the interference of ice flow dynamics.

5.3.1 Winter Spin-Up

Before seasonal simulations can be run, the base winter state of the hydrological system must be established. To do this, we prescribe arbitrary initial input parameters and allow the system to equilibrate to its base state. During the winter, we assume that there is no surface or englacial melt; the only hydrological input to the bed is through geothermal flux, and melt opening/turbulent dissipation (note that we have prescribed sliding velocity to be 0, so there is no frictional heating). The initial parameters for the 200-day spinup are shown in 5.1. Because we are excluding all contributions from tributary glaciers, a Neumann boundary condition of zero flux is applied to all edges of the domain. A timestep of 1 day is used for the spinup; although relatively coarse, the winter spin-up does not require finer temporal resolution because we are only trying to obtain the final, equilibrated state.

Parameter	Prescribed Initial Value	
Hydraulic head	50% of ice over burden	
Gap height	0.001 m	
Bump spacing	$2 \mathrm{m}$	
Bump height	0 m	
Meltwater input to bed	$0 \mathrm{m/yr}$	
Reynolds number	1000	
Flow law exponent	n=3	
Velocity	0	

Table 5.1: Initial values prescribed to model parameters for the winter spin-up run.

From trial and error, we found that the system took approximately 200 days to fully reach steady state. Figure 5-4 shows that all parameters except for gap height reach equilibrium between 150 and 200 days of simulation. In future work, we will run the winter spin-up longer so that gap height reaches its equilibrium state; for now, this is acceptable to us because the gap height is not growing exponentially.

Once the model reaches equilibrium, there is clear formation of a channel down the main trunk of the glacier (Figure 5-5). In SHAKTI, channels are modeled as chains of higher gap height; the channel in Figure 5-5a, shown in yellow, is clearly corroborated by an opening of gap height (Figure 5-5b) which accommodates this



Figure 5-4: Mean values of gap height, hydraulic head, basal flux, effective pressure, and Reynolds number across the mesh for the 200-day winter spinup.

increased flux. It is important to note that the channel has formed in the absence of any surface water melt, indicating that it likely persists through the winter months and forms the main conduit of the subglacial system during the melt season.

In addition, according to [20], surging glaciers like Shishper often have subglacial (beneath the ice) lakes in their ablation zone, from which drainages can also occur. We observe two such lakes near the terminus in our model of Shishper. This gives us additional confidence in the model's fidelity to DEM and ice thickness data.



Figure 5-5: (a) Basal flux and (b) gap height over the domain following the 200 day winter spin-up.

5.3.2 Discrete Meltwater Inputs

To explore the effects of rising water quantities in the system, we performed several simulations at discrete hydrological inputs to the subglacial system (hereafter referred to as just "englacial input"). Rather than a continuous rise in englacial input as is seen in physical systems, we modeled a series of discrete steps with increasing melt. Starting with the basal conditions reached at the end of the winter spin-up, we added uniform, distributed melt inputs across the mesh. The englacial input is instantaneously delivered to the bed, and the simulations were allowed to run until the system reached equilibrium as visually determined by time-series plots like the

Englacial Input (m/yr)	Timestep (h)	Time until equilibrium (d)
1	3	20
2	3	20
3	3	20
4	3	30
5	2	50
6	2	50
7	0.5	45

ones in 5-4. The parameters for the seven model runs are shown in Table 5.2.

Table 5.2: Discrete englacial inputs to the winter system, the minimum timestep required for numerical stability, and the number of days for the system to reach steady-state.

For each discrete input, we attempted the largest possible timestep, since runtime is directly proportional to the number of timesteps required for the model run. Generally, we saw that increasing englacial input to the subglacial system led to decreased numerical stability, which we accommodated by decreasing the timestep. This makes sense because we would expect larger water inputs to have a faster and more dramatic effect on the subglacial system; therefore, in order to maintain the continuousness of the model, smaller timesteps must be allowed. We also noted that the system took longer to reach steady-state in response to higher meltwater inputs. This makes intuitive sense as well, because we would expect the system to require more reorganization time given a more extreme change in input conditions.

The system undergoes various changes when we increase the distributed englacial input across the mesh. Figure 5-6 shows the differences in horizontal basal flux and hydraulic head from simulations with englacial input 1 m/yr to 7 m/yr. In Figure 5-6a (basal flux), most of the domain shows a difference of 0 m/yr between the two plots. However, in the central channel, the flux increases slightly. The growth of the channel's size (Figure 5-6c) accommodates an increase in flux. We also observe lots of changes in hydraulic head (Figure 5-6b); when more water is added to the system, we see a large decrease in head at the upper part of the glacier (dark blue) with smaller decreases at the middle of the glacier and a small increase in head (yellow-green) at the outlet. This shows us that the channel is efficiently transporting high-pressure



Figure 5-6: Change in (a) basal flux, (b) hydraulic head, and (c) gap height between models equilibrated to 1 m/yr and 7 m/yr englacial inputs.

flow from high to low gravitational potential. There is also a very large increase in hydraulic head at the very top of the glacier (bright yellow). Since the drainage channel does not yet reach this area, it is not able to evacuate the high levels of melt input that are entering the bed there, and water pressure/hydraulic head builds up.

A key takeaway from these preliminary simulations is that the subglacial drainage system *reorganizes in response to the amount of basal flux*. In Figure 5-7a, we see that as englacial input increases, basal flux increases at the outlet and middle of the glacier. However, the basal flux at the upper end of the glacier decreases slightly. This likely happens because greater englacial inputs cause more reorganization of the drainage system, as noted above. When we prescribe a higher englacial input, the system is more strongly forced to find ways to transport flow from high to low gravitational potential energy. By the time the system equilibrates to the prescribed input, there is more flux at the bottom of the glacier than the top.

The transmissivity of the drainage system, seen in 5-7b, supports this conclusion. Transmissivity, K is a material property of the system that tells us how easy it is



Figure 5-7: (a) Basal flux $(m^2 d^{-1})$ for a single mesh triangle in the outlet, middle, and upper parts of Shishper's trunk vs. englacial input. (b) \log_{10} of transmissivity K $(m^2 d^{-1})$ after equilibrating to a distributed englacial input of 3 m/yr. Transmissivity is shown in log scale to better illustrate differences across the domain.

for water to flow through the system at that place (K is defined in 4.3.1). Since the transmissivity is low in the upper section of the glacier, we can infer that less reorganization of the drainage system has occurred there, leading to locally inefficient, distributed system. This lower-transmissivity area can be seen at the arrow labeled "upper" in Figure 5-7b; there is no distinct channel to be seen, and there seems to be a "blob" of low-transmissivity. At the middle and lower parts of the trunk, a single, narrow channel with high transmissivity and high horizontal basal flux forms, indicating that the system there has equilibrated to a channelized, efficient system. From our discussion in 4.1.3, this pattern agrees with our expectation that when basal flux is higher, more efficient, channelized systems form due to the dominance of the melt opening term. This result is encouraging because it shows agreement with past observations and models of the evolution of subglacial networks.

5.4 Transient Simulations

To better understand how Shishper's subglacial drainage network responds to seasonal changes in meltwater flux, we employ transient simulations across a period of five years. We chose the calendar years 2017-2021 to model the system conditions before, during, and after the surge event that occurred between late 2017 and mid-2019. The transient input for these simulations is *hydrological input to the bed*, which we prescribe to be spatially and temporally varying surface ice melt.

We do not include liquid precipitation in these experiments. The role of external events (i.e., sudden influx of water from storms) in triggering surge events is particularly uncertain [27]; therefore, simulating the ice melt input with and without liquid precipitation data may provide a unique insight into the role of storms in surge behavior. Future work (6.2) will elaborate on this further.

5.4.1 Melt and Precipitation Data Acquisition

Data from the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF)'s Reanalysis v5 (ERA5) were run through a temperature-indexed ice melt model [93] to obtain spatio-temporally varying estimates for surface melt across the domain. These ERA5 weather data are based on an array of field stations and weather models [139], and directly provide estimates for snow melt, ice melt, and liquid precipitation across the five years. Ice melt across the mesh is calculated using the temperature-indexed (TI) melt parametrization developed in [93], which uses ERA5's air temperature, cloud cover, and calculated net shortwave radiation to estimate ice ablation. The TI model is shown to be more accurate for glaciers below 3500 m above sea level (a.s.1) – most of Shishper's main trunk lies below 3500 m a.s.l. (Figure 5-2), so this data provides suitable estimates for our use [93]. Finally, the ERA5 data is validated by data from the Pakistan Water and Power Development Authority (WAPDA) which operates a small automated weather station at the base of the glacier [149]. The melt and precipitation data are set at a temporal resolution of 1 day and spatial resolution of 1 deg².

5.4.2 Model Setup and Parameters

The melt and precipitation data are read in by MATLAB, projected into the 43N UTM system, and then interpolated onto the SHAKTI mesh. Units are then converted from mm w.e. d^{-1} to m/yr. All water input (ice melt and liquid precipitation) are represented by SHAKTI's englacial input parameter. We continue to maintain the assumption that surface melt is delivered instantaneously to the bed.

This simulation considers only the effect of ice melt calculated from the ERA5 data. The amount and timing of surface ice melt is shown in Figure 5-8. Generally, significant melting seems to start in June every year, although the exact time of year differs; for example, the 2019 and 2020 melt seasons start slightly later than 2017, 2018, and 2021. In addition, 2021 appears to be the biggest melt season, with peak melt in the late summer up to 13 m/yr. The least amount of melt occurs in 2019 when the peak melt is about 8 m/yr.



Figure 5-8: Mean ice melt across the model domain from 2017-2021. Tick marks on the x-axis are placed every six months.

In Section 5.3.1, we found that adding a uniform, distributed englacial input of 7.0 m/yr to the system required a maximum 30-minute timestep to run successfully. Therefore, we ran the transient simulations with a 30-minute (0.5 hour) constant timestep. Although we observe instabilities in some of the model outputs, none of

the numerical instabilities were so great as to require a smaller timestep to keep running. We ran the simulations in ten 6-month chunks on a MacBook Pro 2019, resulting in a simulation runtime of approximately 2 hours per chunk and a total runtime of about 20 hours for all 5 years.

A few of the resulting model outputs (gap height, hydraulic head, basal flux, effective pressure, and Reynolds number), averaged across the entire mesh, are shown below for 2017-2021 (Figures 5-9, 5-10, 5-11, 5-12, and 5-13). An in-depth discussion of the model results is presented in Chapter 6.



Transient Ice Melt: Mean 2017 Model Outputs

Figure 5-9: Transient model outputs, averaged across the mesh, for 2017.

5.5 Chapter Conclusion

In this chapter, we introduced the model we will use, SHAKTI, and the study site for our modeling work, Shishper Glacier in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan. The site was cho-



Figure 5-10: Transient model outputs, averaged across the mesh, for 2018.

sen due to its varied surge and GLOF behavior in recent years and its close proximity to human settlements and the Karakoram Highway. The several observational studies that have been conducted on it in recent years offer multiple opportunities for model setup and validation. In addition, the formation of Shishper Lake, an impoundment of Muchuwar Glacier's meltwater by Shishper's terminus, is quite similar to several other ice-dammed lakes in the Karakoram. The results of our study may then be useful for those other glacier systems.

Next, we set up the SHAKTI model domain using remotely-sensed data and physics-informed estimates of bed thickness. We simplified the shape of the domain by neglecting Shishper's tributary glaciers. We conducted a winter spin-up, starting from somewhat arbitrary values, to calibrate the model's initial parameters under winter conditions. This showed us the emergence of a central channel running down the main trunk of the glacier, which proves that even when there is no surface melt



Figure 5-11: Transient model outputs, averaged across the mesh, for 2019.

reaching the bed, there is enough basal melt generation occurring for a central channel to be maintained. We then carried out an initial study to investigate the system's response to varied englacial inputs. We find that when we introduce larger melt fluxes to the bed:

- 1. The channel system reorganizes more drastically, and
- 2. the simulation requires finer timesteps to converge.

Finally, we set up our transient simulations, which incorporate weather data from 2017-2021. These weather data have been fed through an ice ablation model to provide surface ice melt which can be used as SHAKTI's model input. We then ran the transient simulations and showed an abbreviated form of the results. In the next chapter, we will take a closer look at the results of the 2017-2021 transient simulations



Figure 5-12: Transient model outputs, averaged across the mesh, for 2020.

and what they can tell us about surges, GLOFs, and the seasonal evolution of the subglacial hydrological system.



Figure 5-13: Transient model outputs, averaged across the mesh, for 2021.

Chapter 6

Shishper Case Study: Results, Discussion, and Conclusions

In Chapter 5, we set up a simplified model domain representing Shishper Glacier in the Karakoram Range in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan. We ran a few preliminary simulations to calibrate the initial model parameters, determine an optimal (i.e., maximum) timestep for transient simulations, and determine whether the model outputs were physically intuitive. In this chapter, we will discuss the results of the transient icemelt simulations and their implications.

6.1 Seasonal Evolution of the Subglacial Drainage System

In Section 5.4, we set up ten six-month transient simulations spanning the years 2017-2021. We chose this timeframe to see if we could observe the conditions before, after, and during the major surge that Shishper underwent between late 2017 and mid 2019. The mean, minimum, and maximum of several output parameters of the model are shown below, separated by year (Figure 6-1).



Figure 6-1: Transient model outputs for 2017.

6.1.1 Temporal Visualizations of Seasonal Evolution

Gap height: Since the maximum gap height is so much greater than the mean gap height, we can assume that the maximum (shown in yellow) is representative of the main channel, while the mean (blue) represents the rest of the bed. We expect the maximum gap height, which tells us the size of the main Röthlisberger channel down the trunk of the glacier, to be approximately the same size at the beginning of each melt season. After the melt season, we expect the gap height to return to the same winter conditions as the previous winter. However, we can see that the channel grew from 0.02m at the beginning of 2017 to about 0.22 m at the end of 2017, growing to approximately 10x its size. It also grows, albeit much less so, in years 2018-2021. We can conclude that this is simply because the winter spin-up (Figure 5-4) was not run for enough time for the gap height to fully equilibrate. This does not appear to have a drastic effect on model runs; however, for future model runs, we should ensure that



Figure 6-2: Transient model outputs for 2018.

the gap height is fully equilibrated at the end of the winter spin-up before running the transient simulations.

Hydraulic head: Hydraulic head *h* can be defined as:

$$h = \psi + z \tag{6.1}$$

where ψ is water pressure and z is the elevation relative to a specified datum. SHAKTI defines this datum at sea level [146]. Hydraulic head (or just "head") therefore represents both gravitational potential energy as well as potential energy from water pressure gradients. In Figures 6-1 through 6-5, hydraulic head seems to hold constant throughout the simulations with a mean of about 3000m. This is a reasonable value, as the modeled domain spans about 1500 - 3700 m elevation. Every year, there seem to be several spikes during which the head goes above the equilibrium value. In all five years, the majority of these spikes occur at the beginning of the melt



Figure 6-3: Transient model outputs for 2019.

season when basal flux starting to rise, and all of the spikes occur during the melt season - i.e., periods when the basal flux is greater than 0. The big spikes of higher hydraulic head at the beginning of the melt season (May-July, depending on the year) also indicate that the system is still distributed (inefficient); the rise in head shows a buildup of water pressure due to the system's inability to transport growing fluxes, and the rapid fall in head back to the equilibrium value shows that the system resolved this pressure by creating or growing a new, efficient channel.

We also observe smaller spikes in head towards the middle to end of the melt season (August-September). According to [34] and [50], multiple small drainages have been observed to occur from subglacial drainage networks as the subglacial system contracts at the end of the melt season. This is probably what we are seeing here. This contraction, or closing of the system, happens as basal flux falls, allowing melt opening to fall and creep closure to dominate. As the system closes, it becomes less



Figure 6-4: Transient model outputs for 2020.

efficient at transporting fluxes, resulting in these small spikes in pressure. The spikes are smaller than the ones at the beginning of the melt season because the system has not had much time to close yet, so the system is still more efficient than it would be at the beginning of spring.

These spikes in water pressure, which only occur when the system is inefficient and experiencing high fluxes, may also lead to drainages at the outlet of the glacier. However, it is difficult to tell from this model whether this is true. This may be a subject for future work.

Basal Flux: Similar to gap height, the maximum basal flux is much higher than the mean basal flux across the glacier, meaning we can take the maximum (yellow) line as a representation of what is happening in the main channel/channel system. Similar to what we saw in Figure 5-8, the melt season starts at a slightly different time each year due to differences in weather patterns. Since the model assumes



Figure 6-5: Transient model outputs for 2021.

instantaneous delivery of surface meltwater to the bed and no englacial storage, we can assume that the melt season begins exactly when basal flux begins to rise. In 2017, the melt season begins much earlier, in mid-May (Figure 6-1); in 2018, 2020, and 2021 (Figures 6-2, 6-4, 6-5) the melt season starts in late May to early June, and in 2019, the melt season starts quite late, in late June/early July (Figure 6-3. However, all melt seasons end at nearly the same time, at the end of September. The 2017 melt season was by far the longest one of the five years (approximately 150 days), and 2019's was the shortest (approximately 100 days).

Effective pressure: The spikes in hydraulic head correspond with dips in effective pressure, during which time effective pressure becomes negative. Recalling the definition of effective pressure from Section 4.1.2, we indeed expect the effective pressure to drop when water pressure rises. When effective pressure is negative, it means that water pressure exceeds the ice overburden pressure. Therefore, we expect to see glacial uplift, a phenomenon which has been observed by [43] and [90]. We will discuss these changes in effective pressure in 6.1.2.

Reynolds number: Reynolds number *Re* is defined as

$$Re = \frac{uL}{\nu} = \frac{|q|}{\nu} \tag{6.2}$$

where u is the velocity of the fluid (water), L is the characteristic length scale (defined as gap height b) of the channel, q is depth-integrated basal flux, and ν is the kinematic viscosity of the fluid. A high Reynolds number indicates more turbulent flow, while a low Reynolds number indicates laminar flow. In our case, ν of water stays constant, so the variables of interest are the velocity and the characteristic length scale. In all five simulated years, the maximum of Reynolds number very closely follows the trend of maximum basal flux. This makes a great deal of physical sense, as channels with greater flux likely also travel at faster velocities, leading to higher turbulence. In addition, due to melt opening (turbulent dissipation), the channel width also scales with flux q, increasing L which also increases Re.

Response Time to Changes in Melt Delivery

Understanding the system response time to melt inputs can provide an additional insight into how the system responds to triggers. For example, Figure 6-6a shows a time series of englacial input (surface melt input to the bed) and basal flux during the year of 2017. Both fields are averaged over the entire domain, so the basal flux series represents the cumulative system response to an overall englacial input across the mesh. The basal flux, shown in red consistently and closely lags melt input (blue). A similar trend is seen for years 2018-2021. Cross-correlation of the peaks reveals that the characteristic lag time for the entire system is about 1 day (Figure 6-7a). This means that it only takes about 1 day for the mean basal flux across the mesh to respond to changes in the mean englacial input.

Comparing the characteristic lag times across different model outputs, areas of the domain, and times of year can give us a better understanding of the heterogeneity of



Figure 6-6: (a) Mean surface melt input and basal flux during 2017. (b) Mean surface melt input and gap height during 2017.

the system response. For example, all of the cross-correlation plots between ice melt and basal flux for 2018-2021 are very symmetrical and show a neat peak (for example, Figure 6-7a). However, the characteristic lag between ice melt and gap height show interesting asymmetries, even though the lag time is also about 1 day. For example, Figure 6-6b shows the lag between ice melt and gap height. It is less clear-cut than the relationship between ice melt and basal flux (Figure 6-7a) because the gap height has a nonlinear response to the system input (recall Equation 4.10).

The sampling rate of the model outputs is one data point per day; therefore, we are not able to obtain a more precise lag time. It is likely that the lag time is less than a day; however, a better resolution of output data is necessary to narrow down a more precise lag time.



Figure 6-7: (a) Cross correlation of mean ice melt input and mean basal flux across the mesh shows a peak cross correlation at lag -1, meaning that basal flux lags ice melt by 1 day. (b) Cross correlation of mean ice melt and mean gap height across the mesh show a peak correlation at lag -1. Since the sampling rate is once per day, we do not have a more precise lag time.

6.1.2 Spatial Visualizations of the Subglacial Drainage System

From the time-series outputs of the transient model (Figures 6-1, 6-2, 6-3, 6-4, and 6-5), we were able to glean information about how the efficiency of Shishper's drainage system evolved over time. However, since these plots are averaged over the entire mesh, it is difficult to investigate where changes are occurring in the domain. In this section, we will visualize how these changes occur spatially over Shishper Glacier.

Overview of Seasonal Changes

Spatial plots of the transient ice melt model solutions demonstrate the evolution of the subglacial drainage system we looked at in section 6.1.1 (complete videos of this evolution by day can be found in the Supplementary Materials). Figure 6-8 shows the configuration of the drainage system throughout 2017. The first plot (Figure 6-8a) shows the system on January 1, 2017, in a mostly closed state. In this case, drainage channel in the middle to lower part of the domain is observed, although it appears thin without a lot of flux. Figure 6-8b shows the system on August 18 at the height of the melt season on a day during which the system is handling the most amount of water. At this peak, the channel has extended upwards toward the higher-elevation parts of the domain, splitting in two around 4030 km north in an arborescent pattern (i.e., tree-like, branching). This type of arborescent drainage pattern was proposed by Röthlisberger [130] and is characteristic of an efficient (channelized) drainage system. The presence of this efficient system is expected for a steep glacier like Shishper, where head potential gradients are steep (recall section 4.1.5). Figure 6-8c shows the system late in the melt season on September 12; in comparison with (b), several branches of the upper part of the system have disappeared or thinned. By October 18 (Figure 6-8d) the upper part of the system has completely shut down, leaving only the lower part of the channel still open, and with significantly less flow going through.

The lower channel which traverses the mid- to lower trunk clearly persists through every simulated winter in 2017-2021, and can be seen in both images of the "closed" state (Figure 6-8a and d). Recalling Figure 5-5, we know that this channel appears during the winter spin-up, during which time the only water at the ice-bed interface comes from pressure-induced melting and geothermal heat flux (frictional heating is 0 in all of our simulations thus far because ice velocity is set to 0). Because Shishper is a temperate glacier, parts of the basal interface are usually able to be maintained at the pressure melting point for most of the year [67]. Therefore, there is always a consistent stream of water, although small, that keeps the main channel open. It also makes sense that the channel in the lower part of the domain stays open; all of the meltwater across the glacier bed is directed downhill due to gravity. [26] show that surface melt elevations move from 6400m in peak summer to 3500 m at the end of winter (no surface melt is observed in December, January, or February) meaning that the bottom part of the glacier will always receive more melt than the top.

Channel Formation During the Early Melt Season

In Section 6.1.1, we observed that large spikes in hydraulic head occur at the beginning of every melt season in our simulations. We postulated that new channels are created during these spikes in pressure. To investigate the effects of these channels, we will take a look at the spike in pressure that occurred during early June 2017 (see Figure 5-9). Figure 6-9 shows the state of the system during that time. On June 3 (6-9a),



Figure 6-8: Basal flux (shown in log scale to emphasize smaller channels) across the mesh at various points in 2017; (a) January 1, (b) August 18, (c) September 12, and (d) October 18.

the system shows relatively channelized flux that is concentrated in the main drainage channel down the middle to lower part of the domain. By June 5th, the system has become far more distributed, showing raised fluxes across the domain (yellow/green).

Between 4029 and 4030 km north, we see a particularly thick area where there is a slightly concentrated and heavier flow (indicated with a red arrow). Between June 5th and June 10th, the flow has narrowed to a more concentrated area. There is also less basal flux to the right and left sides of this increasingly channelized flow. By June 20th, this area of increased flow has turned into a new channel.

We interpret this sequence of events as follows: During the 17 days between June 3rd and June 20th, an area of high flux and high pressure develops, forming a distributed, sheetlike flow. The wide sheet of high flux quickly narrows as it becomes an efficient channel, which then connects with the previously existing Röthlisberger channel below. The formation of this channel extension results in the efficient removal of flux from the surrounding area, decreasing the local water pressure over the subglacial interface and concentrating most water flow to a single, narrow channel.

The behavior of this modeled system clearly corroborates the understanding in the scientific literature that there is a transition from a distributed to channelized drainage system during the early melt season (for example, [135, 34, 67]). Furthermore, speed-ups in surface displacement further up the trunk of Shishper were observed by [26] during the early melt season (May to June) between 2013-2016, indicating that there is increased basal water pressure at the northern part of the domain during this time. This agrees with our model results: near the terminus, the system remains perennially channelized, while the upper part sees an inefficient, distributed system during the early melt season. We only expect to see high water pressures at the upper parts and not near the terminus. This is an encouraging result because it shows us that our model is well-suited to provide insights into surface displacement and surge-type behavior.

Emergence of Uplift During the Early Melt Season

During these spikes in head, we also observe a decrease in effective pressure N (as seen in Figure 6-1). As head increases, the effective pressure decreases, in several areas becoming negative. Recalling the definition of effective pressure from 4.1.2, $N = p_i - p_w$, we can understand that N becomes negative when p_w , the water pressure,



Figure 6-9: Basal flux (log scale) on (a) June 3, (b) June 5, (c) June 10, and (d) June 20, 2017 shows the creation of a new channel in response to increased englacial input.

exceeds p_i , the overburden pressure of the ice. Depending on the mechanical strength of the ice and the underlying till or bedrock, this negative effective pressure can either lead to ice uplift or hydrofracturing of the underlying material [146].



Figure 6-10: Effective pressure at Shishper on (a) June 3, (b) June 5, (c) June 10, and (d) June 15. Note the negative effective pressure observed at the upper part of the domain on June 5.

Figure 6-10 shows the effective pressure over the domain during the early-melt season spike (cf. 6-9). Figure 6-10a, the "base" state of effective pressure on June 3, shows that effective pressure is approximately 2 MPa across the mesh, apart from a few high-pressure areas that correspond with cavities in the bedrock. The spike, or drop in effective pressure can be clearly observed in 6-10b (June 5), where a large area of negative N can be seen in green at the northern part of the domain. Recalling our above discussion of 6-9, a channel formed in the upper part of the domain between
June 5 and June 20, allowing that section of the system to become more efficient. On June 10, this area of uplift at the northern part of the glacier has lessened, and by June 20 the entire section has almost completely returned to the original state of effective pressure, around 2 MPa across the mesh.

The presence of uplift has a few interesting implications. Uplift has been observed to immediately follow supraglacial lake drainage [35, 90, 43]. Although the exact phenomenon of supraglacial lake drainage is not modeled in this work, it represents a rapid delivery of surface melt to the bed, which we are modeling in this simulation (in supraglacial lake drainage, the delivery of meltwater to the ice-bed interface is concentrated at a single point; in our simulations, it is distributed across the mesh). The vertical movement of ice during uplift can introduce mechanical stresses into the glacier, which has also been observed to cause fracture, a phenomenon also known as hydraulic jacking [35]. When this occurs close to the terminus, it could result in calving of the glacier. This has implications for both the ice dynamics and for flooding; a rapid loss of ice mass near the terminus may decrease the buttressing forces that restrict the glacier's downward flow. In addition, a rapid transfer of volume into any glacial lake below the glacier could lead to dam overtopping and GLOF [111]. The feedback processes between calving, surging, and GLOF are very complex and should be investigated further in future modeling work (see Section 6.2.3).

In our case, we see negative N (likely uplift) at an area that is much higher up in the glacier. [90] found that hydraulic transmissivity K of the subglacial hydrological system could be inferred by the uplift relaxation time. They observed that early-melt season drainage events were followed by slower uplift relaxation than late-melt season drainage events, due to a lower relaxation time. Figure 6-11 shows the hydraulic transmissivity across the system after the "spike" observed around June 5th (early melt season) and around September 1 (late melt season). The transmissivity plots show that the system is much more efficient in September than in June, allowing high water pressures to resolve more quickly and for effective pressures (uplift) to relax more quickly. These results give support to previous studies that suggested that surface uplift relaxation times scale with transmissivity of the subglacial drainage



Figure 6-11: Transmissivity K after (a) an early melt season spike and (b) a late melt season spike.

system [90, 45]. However, SHAKTI is solely a subglacial hydrological model, and these simulations are not coupled to ice dynamics, so we cannot make a definitive claim that a more strongly negative N leads to greater uplift. A future study on this phenomenon is suggested in Section 6.2.4.

System Closing During Late Melt Season

As the melt season draws to a close, we observe the closing of channels during which the subglacial drainage system returns to its closed winter state. Recalling Figure 6-8, we can see that channels begin to close around mid-September and the system almost completely returns to its winter state by mid to late October. This corresponds with lower surface melt inputs, which decrease the melt opening term (Equation 4.10). Creep closure becomes the dominant mechanism controlling channel size (gap height), which leads to a quick decrease in gap height over time. The channels at the northern (upper-elevation) section of the glacier disappear first, due to lower cumulative basal flux and lower surface temperatures compared to the lower part of the glacier. As mentioned earlier, the lower channel remains open throughout the winter. Consistent yearly observations of small winter drainages at Shishper's base in December and January provide evidence that water continues to flow through the subglacial drainage system throughout the winter, supporting our claim that the main channel persists through the winter [149].

6.1.3 Surging and GLOFs between 2017-2021

As discussed in Chapter 3 and 4, the field of glaciology has drawn a clear link between subglacial hydrology and the phenomena of glacial surges and glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs). In particular, at our modeled Shishper Glacier, both GLOFs and surges occur regularly. Now that we have established that our simulated system behaves physically, we can investigate the link between subglacial hydrology and surging/GLOFs.

Shishper underwent a major surge between 2017-2019, during which time the terminus advanced approximately 1.5 km [26]. [26] used satellite imagery to perform velocity tracking to assess when and how surges have occurred on Shishper in the past few decades. They found that prior to 2017, the glacier also surged between 2000-2001 and in 1973. As noted earlier, they also found significant seasonal speedups in the middle of the glacier trunk (not at the terminus) during the early melt season [26]. A full "surge" is then defined as the movement of the entire glacier rather than just a section further away from the terminus, which always remains efficient/channelized. Figure 6-12 shows a timeline of recent surge behavior documented by [26].

Figure 6-13 shows model outputs overlaid with approximate surge velocity phases as described by [26]. Spaces between the highlighted areas show times when velocity data was not available due to cloud cover. According to [26], their observations show a pre-surge acceleration between November 2017 to February 2018 (highlighted



Figure 6-12: Figure from [26] showing variation in surface displacement across Shishper. The black arrow at the top left indicates a GLOF in June 2019.

in yellow). When this period begins, it is well after the melt season (basal flux is approximately 0 over the domain) and there are no major spikes in hydraulic head. There is no indication given by the model outputs that would suggest an explanation as to why the pre-surge acceleration started at this time (e.g., an increase in pressure leading to bed lubrication). An active phase of the surge is seen by [26] between April 6, 2018 and May 11, 2018 (highlighted in orange), during which speeds reach approximately $6 \pm 0.1 \text{ m/d}$. Similarly, since this happens during the winter season and there is no basal flux or rise in hydraulic head at this time, our simulation provides no hydrological reason as to why the glacier velocity increased. At the beginning of June 2018, [26] describe a rapid but brief acceleration to $18 \pm 0.5 \text{ m/d}$ (highlighted in red).



Figure 6-13: Surge phases analyzed via satellite imagery by [26] overlaid on model outputs of head (m), basal flux (m^2/s) and effective pressure (Pa). The bright red line indicates a GLOF that occurred on June 22-23, 2019.

This does coincide with a series of "spikes" in head at the beginning of the 2018 melt season, during which time hydraulic head (water pressure) spikes dramatically as it does at the beginning of every melt season. The end of this surge peak is marked by a return of the system to a low-head state as the drainage system becomes efficient and channelized. The surge then enters a very slow period during which velocity is only slightly higher than normal summer velocities (Figure 6-12 in blue). This continues until mid-September 2018, when the glacier begins to accelerate again to speeds of 2.5 m/d. By October 2018, speeds increase to about 3.5 m/d (highlighted in gray). This period follows a slight peak in head at the beginning of September 2018. Finally, another surge peak, again moving at 18 ± 0.3 m/d, follows on April 21, 2019, lasting until May 6 (in red) [26]. A small GLOF, which damaged the Karakoram Highway, follows on June 22-23, 2019 (denoted by a bright red line).

Most of the changes in glacier velocity observed by [26] occurred without a hydrological trigger that was obvious from our model outputs (i.e., surface ice melt alone). However, the beginning of the surge peak in June 2018 coincided with a large spike in hydraulic head during the beginning of the 2018 melt season, and the start of the long "yellow" period in September 2018 coincided with a spike in head at the end of the melt season. This indicates increased bed lubrication which may be able to explain a speedup of surge velocities. It has long been suggested that subglacial hydrology plays a critical role in surge behavior, as [80] first proposed in 1987. However, the lack of a subglacial hydrological trigger for the 2017 incipient surge motion and 2019 surge peak – at least when considering surface ice melt alone – suggests that rises in water pressure at the ice-bed interface may not provide a standalone explanation for surge behavior.

It is very possible that the spikes in head that coincided with surge speed-ups could have played an important role in those speed-ups, however. If a build-up of potential energy (i.e., through mass or enthalpy accumulation) or dynamical thinning [100] occurred such that the system was at an elevated state of surge "risk", a hydrological trigger could set off the surge motion. Either way, our results indicate that subglacial hydrology likely plays more of a role in *stopping* surges than starting them. The first active phase/surge peak in Figure 6-13 was terminated when the system switched to a channelized system and reached a low-pressure state. The second active phase also ended following a lake drainage in June 2019.

It is possible that if we couple the model with sliding velocity and thus include frictional heating, there would be more water in the system that could change how quickly the drainage configuration deals with influxes of water. In addition, our current model does not include liquid precipitation; the monsoon season which occurs from April to July may possibly play a limited role in some speedups such as the one that occurred in April 2018. A final unknown is englacial storage and release of water, which we do not model in this simulation. A description of future work that may shed further light on surge behavior is described in Section 6.2.5.

6.1.4 Model Limitations

While models can provide crucial insight into the evolution of subglacial processes, they have critical limitations. In this work, there is a lack of observational data both to calibrate the model parameters and to validate the results. Much of the data used to calibrate the model are modeled themselves, rather than from direct observation: for example, the glacier thickness is inferred from surface topography, and the ice melt data is modeled from interpolated weather data which is then channeled into an ice ablation model. To validate results pertaining to the evolution of the subglacial system, we can compare the intuition the model gives us to the results from observational studies of subglacial hydrology. However, there are many parameters of the model that remain unknown that can strongly affect the response of the system to inputs: for example, the creep parameter, englacial storage times, geothermal heat flux, sliding parameters, and most of all, the composition of the underlying bedrock.

The lack of knowledge of the underlying bedrock is a crucial limiting factor in these experiments. Parametrizing the behavior of subglacial sediments and their role in subglacial hydrology is highly dependent on understanding the composition of the till. SHAKTI assumes that the underlying material is solid bedrock; however, it is largely unknown whether this is actually true in the Karakoram. Our model assumes that all channels at the ice-bed interface are cut into the ice rather than into the underlying bedrock or till (N-channels); hydrological flow through porous sediments is also neglected. This assumption likely causes the model's behavior to deviate significantly from the physical system; however, it is difficult to tell what these errors are and how to correct for them.

The model also does not account for any englacial processes. As mentioned multiple times in our discussion, our implementation of SHAKTI assumes that surface melt instantaneously reaches the bed. As discussed in Section 4.1.1, a complex range of englacial processes affect the delivery of meltwater to the bed. However, SHAKTI takes a crude approach to parametrizing englacial water storage because we do not have enough observations of englacial storage to better understand the role in englacial channels, firn aquifers, and snow to ice compaction. The configuration of these englacial features likely affect the release and arrival of flux to the bed, which are not represented in this work.

Another major limitation of the current model formulation is that we have consistently prescribed the velocity of the glacier to be 0. From numerous observations at Shishper, it is quite obvious that this is an unphysical assumption [26]. The model assumes that surface velocity is equal to basal velocity, which is an appropriate, but not perfect assumption for fast-moving glaciers such as Shishper [147]. The introduction of surface velocity affects the subglacial drainage system significantly. For example, it introduces basal drag, which creates frictional heating, thus introducing much more melt into the system. The movement of the glacier also introduces increased cavitation which can allow water to collect in large subglacial pools, and may destroy existing channels, hindering the system's ability to evolve to a fully efficient state.

6.2 Future Work

The results of this work so far have been quite encouraging. They agree with previous scientific intuition and observations of subglacial hydrology. They show that this work can serve as a good starting point for further, more sophisticated modeling work on subglacial hydrology in the Karakoram range. The results of our study lead to several immediate and exciting next steps to improve our understanding of Shishper's subglacial system. We will talk about some of these next steps here.

6.2.1 General Improvements to Model Accuracy and Precision

There is much work needed to improve the rigor of our setup and the accuracy of the results. There have been a few flaws in our methods which can be readily corrected in future work. A few quick relatively fixes are outlined below.

Glacier thickness and bed topography: One of the major parameters required for defining the SHAKTI model domain is bed elevation. Because there have been no ice-penetrating radar systems and no borehole measurements at Shishper, we must rely on bed topographies that are inferred from surface elevation (DEMs). Here, we have used the data from [49], which uses a mathematical inversion to infer bed thickness for all glaciers contained in the Randolph Glacier Inventory. By using [99]'s database which uses an improved mass balance technique to estimate glacier thickness, we may be able to obtain more accurate bed topography data for the model domain. This can give us more accurate estimates of ice overburden pressure and effective pressure, which affect channel formation and uplift. Another way to improve bed topography estimates is to use DEMs from previous decades during which currently glaciated areas were uncovered; however, as the advancing of the glacier tends to alter the topography of the land beneath it, this method should also be undertaken with careful thought.

Updates to glacier outlines: The glacier outline we used to define the domain is from RGI 6.0, which is based on glacier outlines from 2016 [39]. It was well established by [26] that Shishper's terminus advanced significantly during the 2017-2019 surge. Using an updated glacier outline taken from more recent remote sensing imagery will allow greater accuracy of the model.

Calibration of gap height: As mentioned earlier, we made a mistake during the winter spin-up (5.3.1) by not letting it run until the gap height reached equilibrium. As a result, we saw that the average gap height across the mesh gradually went upwards every year, where we expected to see the gap height return to the same

winter conditions every year. In the next iteration of this work, we will allow the gap height to equilibrate fully by running the winter spin-up for 300 to 400 days. This will allow us to more accurately model the seasonal evolution of the subglacial drainage system.

Mesh resolution sensitivity study: All model variables in SHAKTI are discretized by mesh element. In [147], a mesh resolution sensitivity analysis was carried out to understand how the mesh resolution affects channel formation. They found that as the mesh element size increased from 50m to 200m, fewer channels formed and the degree of branching decreased. In any finite element simulation, it is ideal to obtain results that are independent of mesh size. We will conduct a similar mesh resolution sensitivity study by varying the mesh resolution (50 meters is used in these experiments) between 20 and 100 m and examining how model outputs change.

6.2.2 The Effects of Liquid Precipitation

In this work, the only hydrological input we considered was surface (ice) melt and basal melt. Since we had prescribed the surface velocity to be 0, the basal melt was quite small. However, along with the ERA5 ice ablation data, we have also been provided with daily estimates of liquid precipitation. By adding liquid precipitation to the hydrological inputs, we can consider the impact of the Asian monsoon season on the subglacial system. In particular, we can examine the role of large storms in triggering channel formation or bed lubrication at various times during the intersection of the melt season and the monsoon season.

In the next simulation, we will consider SHAKTI's "englacial input" term to be comprised of ice melt plus liquid precipitation. Besides shedding light on the role of rainfall, the increased volume of meltwater will be more faithful to the physical system. Thus, we will be able to get a fuller picture of surge and GLOF events that occurred at the site. We can also evaluate whether rain can be a trigger for surges or GLOFs by doing a similar comparison as 6-13.

6.2.3 Proximal Lake Drainage

In our Discussion, we have dedicated a great deal of attention to analyzing conditions that may be conducive to surges. However, the more urgent threat originating from Shishper is GLOF. The 2017-2019 surge caused Shishper to dam the meltwater flow from the neighboring glacier, Muchuwar, creating an ice-dammed lake (Figure 6-14). This ice-dammed lake has drained through Shishper's terminus multiple times, resulting in evacuations of the village of Hassanabad and Hunza Valley [20].



These lake drainages range from less dramatic flows in the winter to full-scale GLOFs in the spring which cause significant damage to homes, crops, and infrastructure. According to [20], farmers and residents of Hassanabad are constantly living in fear of their homes and fields being suddenly swept away

Figure 6-14: Historical position of Shishper Glacier [26]

by a lake drainage. To gain a better understanding of how GLOFs may affect the drainage network at Shishper's terminus, we can simulate a buildup of hydrostatic pressure at the left side of Shishper. This is done by assigning a Dirichlet (fixed) water pressure boundary condition along the bottom left stretch of the domain outline where the proximal lake comes in contact with the glacier.

6.2.4 Moulin (Supraglacial Lake) Drainage

The SHAKTI model allows the user to specify where and when supraglacial lakes (moulins) empty into the subglacial environment. As mentioned earlier, [90] found that surface uplift following the drainage of a supraglacial lake (moulin) can allow us to infer the transmissivity of the subglacial system. This could provide a potential avenue for model validation in the future. Multispectral satellite imagery is commonly used to identify glacial lakes and surface melt by calculating an index called NDWI (Normalized Difference Water Index) [154]. We can use this method to track supraglacial melt on Shishper (analysis of satellite imagery may also help us to parametrize water storage in heavily crevassed/damaged areas). In tandem, we can track uplift over the glacier using DEMs to see where and when "water blisters" form. We can then model any observed lake drainages and uplift in SHAKTI and use the relaxation of the blisters to infer the subglacial hydraulic transmissivity using methods from [90]. This can be compared to transmissivity K modeled in SHAKTI. The results of a study like this would provide a degree of much-needed model validation for SHAKTI and would help to put constraints on various modeling parameters.

6.2.5 Coupled Hydrology and Ice Dynamics Simulations

As established earlier, we have neglected many feedbacks and components of the subglacial system by not coupling the hydrology model to the full ice-dynamics model. There are many complicated feedbacks between surface velocity, basal velocity, frictional heating, cavity opening, and till shearing that can affect both surge behavior and the behavior of the subglacial system as well.

To shed light on surge dynamics, we will set up a fully (two-way) coupled hydrology and ice dynamics model. We would like to model the 2017-2019 surge with greater complexity, showing how the terminus of the glacier moving approximately 1500 m (1.5 km) may have affected the subglacial hydrology system and vice versa. Since the initial SHAKTI model development [146], two-way coupling has been developed and tested for various example domains. This is an exciting new development and will lead to many extensions of this work.

6.2.6 Contributions to Early Warning Systems

Early warning systems (EWS) allow residents downstream GLOF-prone lakes extra time to evacuate when glacial lakes are going to flood dramatically. Although there are currently many EWSs already installed and functional in the Himalayas, GLOFs are still regarded as extremely difficult to predict, and none of the existing EWSs can automatically trigger an alarm ahead of time. Our ability to make accurate predictions of these hazards is currently quite limited, as we have not been able to fully understand why lake drainages and GLOFs occurred in the past. However, the preliminary simulation outputs from this work are very promising. If future work allows us to reliably simulate historic lake drainages and GLOFs, running this model in real-time may give us the ability to create a more accurate early-warning system to alert local people of high-danger days when a glacial lake is at risk of outburst.

6.3 Conclusion

The SHAKTI model is one of the first subglacial hydrological models that has the ability to model a continuum of distributed to channelized drainage systems. It is the only subglacial hydrology model with these capabilities that is connected to ISSM and can be readily coupled with sophisticated ice dynamics simulations. This work is the first application of SHAKTI to a glacier in High Mountain Asia, an area of critical importance for the future of humanity (Chapter 1). The Karakoram region is notorious for its glacial surges and GLOFs, and there are large populations living just downstream of these hazards. Since there have been limited observational studies done in this area, models like this, which are informed by remote sensing and local knowledge, can provide a crucial step forward in understanding these glaciers.

In this study, we find that the SHAKTI model produces results that are feasible and intuitive according to previous observational and modeling studies of subglacial hydrology in Greenland, Antarctica, and other alpine environments. We find that the subglacial drainage system transitions from a closed, distributed system in the winter to an efficient, channelized one by late summer. We also show that a single channel remains year-round at the bottom trunk of the glacier and provides the basis for the rest of the drainage system during the melt season. There have also been many studies that suggest various mechanisms for the starting and stopping of surge behavior. Subglacial hydrology is likely a major factor behind surge behavior, but our model results suggest that subglacial hydrology is just one of multiple important mechanisms that start and stop surges. It is also more likely that subglacial hydrology plays more of a role in terminating surges than starting them.

This initial study on Shishper Glacier provides the nucleus for a new branch of research in modeling alpine glaciology. This will allow us to gain a better understanding of how Himalayan glaciers respond to climate change, and will help illuminate why still poorly-understood phenomena such as GLOFs and glacial surges occur. In the Karakoram specifically, it has been commonly observed for valley glaciers to dam other valley glaciers, resulting in proximal glacial lakes such as the one seen at Shishper and Muchuwar [66]. Our work here can then provide a useful framework for studies on many similar glacier systems in the Karakoram range, amplifying the impact of this work.

Chapter 7

Supplementary Materials

This folder contains 10 videos, each containing 6 months of simulated basal flux (shown in log scale). The suffix "_1" denotes the first 183 days of the year (January-June). The suffix "_2" denotes the second 182 days of the year (July-December). 2020_2_basalflux.mp4 contains 183 days because 2020 was a leap year. The sampling rate for each of the videos is 1 per day, meaning that each frame of the video represents 1 day of simulated time.

Bibliography

- [1] Access to clean drinking water after the floods | United Nations Development Programme.
- [2] https://its-live.jpl.nasa.gov/.
- [3] Scaling-up of Glacial Lake Outburst Flood (GLOF) risk reduction in Northern Pakistan | United Nations Development Programme.
- [4] UNDP's GLOF II project concludes four trainings for Government of Pakistan on Disaster Risk Management | United Nations Development Programme, Mar. 2021.
- [5] 2013 Kedarnath flood disaster: How a cloudburst killed 6,000 people 9 years ago, June 2022.
- [6] Synthesis Report of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report 6 (AR6). Tech. rep., Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Mar. 2023.
- [7] AGETA, Y., AND HIGUCHI, K. Estimation of Mass Balance Components of a Summer-Accumulation Type Glacier in the Nepal Himalaya. *Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography 66*, 3 (Oct. 1984), 249–255. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/04353676.1984.11880113.
- [8] AHMAD, O. Can India and Pakistan cooperate on water?, Sept. 2018.
- [9] AHMAD, O. The Indus a river of growing disasters, Feb. 2019.
- [10] AHMAD, O. Himalayan women left more vulnerable amid pandemic. The Third Pole (Apr. 2020).
- [11] AHMAD, S., ZAHRA, J., ALI, M., ALI, S., IQBAL, S., KAMAL, S., TAHIR, M., AND ABORODE, A. T. Impact of water insecurity amidst endemic and pandemic in Pakistan: Two tales unsolved. *Annals of Medicine and Surgery 81* (Aug. 2022), 104350.
- [12] AKHTAR, M., AHMAD, N., AND BOOIJ, M. J. The impact of climate change on the water resources of Hindukush–Karakorum–Himalaya region under different glacier coverage scenarios. *Journal of Hydrology* 355, 1 (June 2008), 148–163.

- [13] ALI, A. Restore Pakistan's forests to prevent floods. Science 378, 6619 (Nov. 2022), 482–483. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- [14] ALI, Z. S. Visual representation of gender in flood coverage of Pakistani print media. Weather and Climate Extremes 4 (Aug. 2014), 35–49.
- [15] ALLEN, S. K., RASTNER, P., ARORA, M., HUGGEL, C., AND STOFFEL, M. Lake outburst and debris flow disaster at Kedarnath, June 2013: hydrometeorological triggering and topographic predisposition. *Landslides 13*, 6 (Dec. 2016), 1479–1491.
- [16] ALLEY, R. B. How can low-pressure channels and deforming tills coexist subglacially? *Journal of Glaciology 38*, 128 (Jan. 1992), 200–207. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [17] ALLEY, R. B., BLANKENSHIP, D. D., BENTLEY, C. R., AND ROONEY, S. T. Till beneath ice stream B: 3. Till deformation: Evidence and implications. *Jour nal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth 92*, B9 (1987), 8921–8929. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/JB092iB09p08921.
- [18] ASCHWANDEN, A., BUELER, E., KHROULEV, C., AND BLATTER, H. An enthalpy formulation for glaciers and ice sheets. *Journal of Glaciology* 58, 209 (2012), 441–457. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [19] AZAM, M. F., WAGNON, P., BERTHIER, E., VINCENT, C., FUJITA, K., AND KARGEL, J. S. Review of the status and mass changes of Himalayan-Karakoram glaciers. *Journal of Glaciology* 64, 243 (Feb. 2018), 61–74. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [20] BAIGAL, P. Threat of GLOFs from Shishper glacier gives communities sleepless nights, June 2021.
- [21] BARTHOLOMEW, I., NIENOW, P., MAIR, D., HUBBARD, A., KING, M. A., AND SOLE, A. Seasonal evolution of subglacial drainage and acceleration in a Greenland outlet glacier. *Nature Geoscience* 3, 6 (June 2010), 408–411. Number: 6 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [22] BAZAI, N., CUI, P., CARLING, P., WANG, H., AND HASSAN, J. Increasing the episodic glacial lake outburst flood hazard in response to surge glaciers in the Karakoram. EGU22–752. Conference Name: EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts ADS Bibcode: 2022EGUGA..24..752B.
- [23] BEAUD, F., AATI, S., DELANEY, I., ADHIKARI, S., AND AVOUAC, J.-P. Generalized sliding law applied to the surge dynamics of Shisper Glacier and constrained by timeseries correlation of optical satellite images. preprint, Glaciers/Remote Sensing, Apr. 2021.

- [24] BEGAM, S., SEN, D., AND DEY, S. Moraine dam breach and glacial lake outburst flood generation by physical and numerical models. *Journal of Hydrology* 563 (Aug. 2018), 694–710.
- [25] BHAMBRI, R., HEWITT, K., KAWISHWAR, P., AND PRATAP, B. Surge-type and surge-modified glaciers in the Karakoram. *Scientific Reports* 7, 1 (Nov. 2017), 15391. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- BHAMBRI, R., WATSON, C. S., HEWITT, K., HARITASHYA, U. K., KARGEL, J. S., PRATAP SHAHI, A., CHAND, P., KUMAR, A., VERMA, A., AND GOVIL, H. The hazardous 2017–2019 surge and river damming by Shispare Glacier, Karakoram. *Scientific Reports 10*, 1 (Mar. 2020), 4685. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [27] BJÖRNSSON, H. Hydrological characteristics of the drainage system beneath a surging glacier. *Nature 395*, 6704 (Oct. 1998), 771–774. Number: 6704 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [28] BJÖRNSSON, H. Jökulhlaups in Iceland: sources, release and drainage. In Megaflooding on Earth and Mars, D. M. Burr, P. A. Carling, and V. R. Baker, Eds. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009, pp. 50–64.
- [29] BOLCH, T., KULKARNI, A., KÄÄB, A., HUGGEL, C., PAUL, F., COGLEY, J. G., FREY, H., KARGEL, J. S., FUJITA, K., SCHEEL, M., BAJRACHARYA, S., AND STOFFEL, M. The State and Fate of Himalayan Glaciers. *Science 336*, 6079 (Apr. 2012), 310–314. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- В., AND Burbank, D. W. Toward a complete 30 BOOKHAGEN, Himalayan hydrological budget: Spatiotemporal distribution of snowmelt and rainfall and their impact on river discharge. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 115, F3 (2010). eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2009JF001426.
- [31] BOULTON, G. S., AND HINDMARSH, R. C. A. Sediment deformation beneath glaciers: Rheology and geological consequences. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth 92*, B9 (1987), 9059–9082. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/JB092iB09p09059.
- [32] CHAKRABORTY, R. The disastrous redesign of Pakistan's rivers. *Vox* (Feb. 2023).
- [33] CHANDLER, D. M., WADHAM, J. L., LIS, G. P., COWTON, T., SOLE, A., BARTHOLOMEW, I., TELLING, J., NIENOW, P., BAGSHAW, E. B., MAIR, D., VINEN, S., AND HUBBARD, A. Evolution of the subglacial drainage system beneath the Greenland Ice Sheet revealed by tracers. *Nature Geoscience* 6, 3 (Mar. 2013), 195–198. Number: 3 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.

- [34] CHU, W., SCHROEDER, D. M., SEROUSSI, H., CREYTS, T. T., PALMER, S. J., AND BELL, R. E. Extensive winter subglacial water storage beneath the Greenland Ice Sheet. *Geophysical Research Letters* 43, 24 (2016), 12,484–12,492. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/2016GL071538.
- [35] CHUDLEY, T. R., CHRISTOFFERSEN, P., DOYLE, S. H., BOUGAMONT, M., SCHOONMAN, C. M., HUBBARD, B., AND JAMES, M. R. Supraglacial lake drainage at a fast-flowing Greenlandic outlet glacier. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116*, 51 (Dec. 2019), 25468–25477. Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- [36] CLARKE, B. G. The engineering properties of glacial tills. *Geotechnical Research* 5, 4 (Dec. 2018), 262–277.
- [37] CLARKE, G. K. C., AND BLAKE, E. W. Geometric and thermal evolution of a surge-type glacier in its quiescent state: Trapridge Glacier, Yukon Territory, Canada, 1969–89. *Journal of Glaciology* 37, 125 (1991), 158–169. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- G. [38] CLARKE, Κ. С., NITSAN, U., AND PATERSON, W. S. B. Strain heating and creep instability in glaciers and ice Reviews of Geophysics 15, 2 (1977), sheets. 235 - 247.eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/RG015i002p00235.
- [39] CONSORTIUM, R. Randolph Glacier Inventory A Dataset of Global Glacier Outlines, Version 6, 2017.
- [40] COOK, K. L., ANDERMANN, C., GIMBERT, F., ADHIKARI, B. R., AND HOV-IUS, N. Glacial lake outburst floods as drivers of fluvial erosion in the Himalaya. *Science 362*, 6410 (Oct. 2018), 53–57. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- [41] COPLAND, L., SYLVESTRE, T., BISHOP, M. P., SHRODER, J. F., SEONG, Y. B., OWEN, L. A., BUSH, A., AND KAMP, U. Expanded and Recently Increased Glacier Surging in the Karakoram. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 43, 4 (Nov. 2011), 503–516.
- [42] COVINGTON, M. D., GULLEY, J. D., TRUNZ, C., MEJIA, J., AND GADD, W. Moulin Volumes Regulate Subglacial Water Pressure on the Greenland Ice Sheet. *Geophysical Research Letters* 47, 20 (2020), e2020GL088901. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2020GL088901.
- [43] DAS, S. B., JOUGHIN, I., BEHN, M. D., HOWAT, I. M., KING, M. A., LIZARRALDE, D., AND BHATIA, M. P. Fracture Propagation to the Base of the Greenland Ice Sheet During Supraglacial Lake Drainage. *Science 320*, 5877 (May 2008), 778–781. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.

- [44] DESIO, A. An Exceptional Glacier Advance in the Karakoram-Ladakh Region. Journal of Glaciology 2, 16 (1954), 383–385. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [45] DOWNS, J. Z., JOHNSON, J. V., HARPER, J. T., MEIERBACHTOL, T., AND WERDER, M. A. Dynamic Hydraulic Conductivity Reconciles Mismatch Between Modeled and Observed Winter Subglacial Water Pressure. *Journal* of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 123, 4 (2018), 818–836. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/2017JF004522.
- [46] EBRAHIM, Z. Climate disasters trigger mental health crisis in Pakistan's mountains, Jan. 2022.
- [47] EHLERS, J. Some Aspects of Glacial Erosion and Deposition in North Germany. Annals of Glaciology 2 (1981), 143–146.
- [48] FARAZ, S. The glacier 'marriages' in Pakistan's high Himalayas, June 2020.
- [49] FARINOTTI, D., HUSS, M., FÜRST, J. J., LANDMANN, J., MACHGUTH, H., MAUSSION, F., AND PANDIT, A. A consensus estimate for the ice thickness distribution of all glaciers on Earth. *Nature Geoscience 12*, 3 (Mar. 2019), 168–173. Number: 3 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [50] FLOWERS, G. Modelling water flow under glaciers and ice sheets. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 471 (2015).
- [51] FLOWERS, G. E., ROUX, N., PIMENTEL, S., AND SCHOOF, C. G. Present dynamics and future prognosis of a slowly surging glacier. *The Cryosphere* 5, 1 (Mar. 2011), 299–313.
- [52] FOWLER, A., AND NG, F., Eds. Glaciers and Ice Sheets in the Climate System: The Karthaus Summer School Lecture Notes. Springer Nature Switzerland, 2021.
- [53] FOWLER, A., AND WALDER, J. Creep closure of channels in deforming subglacial till. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 441, 1911 (1993), 17–31.
- [54] FOWLER, A. C. Sliding with Cavity Formation. Journal of Glaciology 33, 115 (Jan. 1987), 255–267. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [55] FOWLER, H. J., AND ARCHER, D. R. Conflicting Signals of Climatic Change in the Upper Indus Basin. *Journal of Climate 19*, 17 (Sept. 2006), 4276–4293. Publisher: American Meteorological Society Section: Journal of Climate.
- [56] GETZZG. "Women are again unsafe": Preventing violence and poor maternal outcomes during current floods in Pakistan, Jan. 2023.

- [57] GLEN, J. W. The Stability of Ice-Dammed Lakes and other Water-Filled Holes in Glaciers. *Journal of Glaciology* 2, 15 (1954), 316–318. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [58] GODWIN-AUSTEN, H. H. On the Glaciers of the Mustakh Range. Journal of the Royal Geographical Society of London, Jan. 1864.
- [59] GOELLER, S., THOMA, M., GROSFELD, K., AND MILLER, H. A balanced water layer concept for subglacial hydrology in large-scale ice sheet models. *The Cryosphere* 7, 4 (July 2013), 1095–1106. Publisher: Copernicus GmbH.
- [60] GURUNG, J. Women, children and well-being in the mountains of the Hindu Kush Himalayan region.
- [61] HART, J. K., YOUNG, D. S., BAURLEY, N. R., ROBSON, B. A., AND MAR-TINEZ, K. The seasonal evolution of subglacial drainage pathways beneath a soft-bedded glacier. *Communications Earth & Environment 3*, 1 (June 2022), 1–13. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [62] HEWITT, I. J. Seasonal changes in ice sheet motion due to melt water lubrication. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 371-372 (June 2013), 16–25.
- [63] HEWITT, K. The Karakoram Anomaly? Glacier Expansion and the 'Elevation Effect,' Karakoram Himalaya. *Mountain Research and Development 25*, 4 (Nov. 2005), 332–340. Publisher: International Mountain Society.
- [64] HEWITT, K. Tributary glacier surges: an exceptional concentration at Panmah Glacier, Karakoram Himalaya. *Journal of Glaciology* 53, 181 (2007), 181–188. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [65] HEWITT, K. Glacier Change, Concentration, and Elevation Effects in the Karakoram Himalaya, Upper Indus Basin. *Mountain Research and Development* 31, 3 (Aug. 2011), 188–200. Publisher: International Mountain Society.
- [66] HEWITT, K., AND LIU, J. Ice-Dammed Lakes and Outburst Floods, Karakoram Himalaya: Historical Perspectives on Emerging Threats. *Physical Geography 31*, 6 (Nov. 2010), 528–551.
- [67] HUBBARD, B., AND NIENOW, P. Alpine subglacial hydrology. Quaternary Science Reviews 16, 9 (Jan. 1997), 939–955.
- [68] HUGGEL, C., KÄÄB, A., HAEBERLI, W., TEYSSEIRE, P., AND PAUL, F. Remote sensing based assessment of hazards from glacier lake outbursts: a case study in the Swiss Alps. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal 39*, 2 (Apr. 2002), 316–330. Publisher: NRC Research Press.
- [69] HUGONNET, R., MCNABB, R., BERTHIER, E., MENOUNOS, B., NUTH, C., GIROD, L., FARINOTTI, D., HUSS, M., DUSSAILLANT, I., BRUN, F., AND KÄÄB, A. Accelerated global glacier mass loss in the early twenty-first century.

Nature 592, 7856 (Apr. 2021), 726–731. Number: 7856 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.

- [70] HUMPHREY, N. F., AND RAYMOND, C. F. Hydrology, erosion and sediment production in a surging glacier: Variegated Glacier, Alaska, 1982–83. *Journal* of Glaciology 40, 136 (1994), 539–552. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [71] HUTCHINSON, G. A Treatise on Limnology. Geography, Physics and chemistry 0 (1957), 1015.
- [72] IKEN, A., AND BINDSCHADLER, R. A. Combined measurements of Subglacial Water Pressure and Surface Velocity of Findelengletscher, Switzerland: Conclusions about Drainage System and Sliding Mechanism. *Journal of Glaciology* 32, 110 (Jan. 1986), 101–119. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [73] IMMERZEEL, W. W., VAN BEEK, L. P. H., AND BIERKENS, M. F. P. Climate Change Will Affect the Asian Water Towers. *Science 328*, 5984 (June 2010), 1382–1385. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- [74] IQBAL, H. F. The Sky is Far, The Earth is Tough | Voices from the Roof of the World, Nov. 2021.
- [75] JACKSON, M., AZAM, M. F., BARAL, P., BENESTAD, R., BRUN, F., MUHAMMAD, S., PRADHANANGA, S., SHRESTHA, F., STEINER, J. F., AND THAPA, A. Chapter 2: Consequences of climate change for the cryosphere in the Hindu Kush Himalaya. In Water, ice, society, and ecosystems in the Hindu Kush Himalaya: An outlook. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), June 2023, pp. 17–71.
- [76] JAMIL, T. Timely warnings avert loss of life from surging glacier in Pakistan, June 2022.
- [77] JANJUA, Z. Z. 'In the mouth of dragons': Melting glaciers threaten Pakistan's north, July 2022.
- [78] JAVAID, A. The Role of Hydropolitics in Pakistan's Water Crisis, May 2023.
- [79] KAKAKHEL, S. Opinion: Pakistan's new National Water Policy is historic, May 2018.
- [80] KAMB, B. Glacier surge mechanism based on linked cavity configuration of the basal water conduit system. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 92, B9 (1987), 9083.
- [81] KAZMIERCZAK, E., SUN, S., COULON, V., AND PATTYN, F. Subglacial hydrology modulates basal sliding response of the Antarctic ice sheet to climate forcing. *The Cryosphere 16*, 10 (Oct. 2022), 4537–4552. Publisher: Copernicus GmbH.

- [82] KENDRICK, A. K., SCHROEDER, D. M., CHU, W., YOUNG, T. J., CHRISTOFFERSEN, P., TODD, J., DOYLE, S. H., BOX, J. E., HUBBARD, A., HUBBARD, B., BRENNAN, P. V., NICHOLLS, K. W., AND LOK, L. B. Surface Meltwater Impounded by Seasonal Englacial Storage in West Greenland. *Geophysical Research Letters* 45, 19 (2018), 10,474–10,481. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2018GL079787.
- [83] KHALID, Z., MENG, X.-M., AND KHALID, A. A Qualitative Insight into Gendered Vulnerabilities: A Case Study of the Shishper GLOF in Hunza Valley, Pakistan. Sustainability 13, 16 (Jan. 2021), 8798. Number: 16 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [84] KING, O., BHATTACHARYA, A., BHAMBRI, R., AND BOLCH, T. Glacial lakes exacerbate Himalayan glacier mass loss. *Scientific Reports 9*, 1 (Dec. 2019), 18145. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [85] KOZIOL, C., ARNOLD, N., POPE, A., AND COLGAN, W. Quantifying supraglacial meltwater pathways in the Paakitsoq region, West Greenland. *Journal of Glaciology* 63, 239 (June 2017), 464–476. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [86] KULESSA, B., HUBBARD, A. L., BOOTH, A. D., BOUGAMONT, M., DOW, C. F., DOYLE, S. H., CHRISTOFFERSEN, P., LINDBÄCK, K., PETTERSSON, R., FITZPATRICK, A. A. W., AND JONES, G. A. Seismic evidence for complex sedimentary control of Greenland Ice Sheet flow. *Science Advances 3*, 8 (Aug. 2017), e1603071. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- [87] KULKARNI, A. V., BAHUGUNA, I. M., RATHORE, B. P., SINGH, S. K., RANDHAWA, S. S., SOOD, R. K., AND DHAR, S. Glacial retreat in Himalaya using Indian Remote Sensing satellite data. *Current Science* 92, 1 (2007), 69–74. Publisher: Temporary Publisher.
- [88] KUMAR, A., NEGI, H. S., KUMAR, K., SHEKHAR, C., AND KANDA, N. Quantifying mass balance of East-Karakoram glaciers using geodetic technique. *Polar Science 19* (Mar. 2019), 24–39.
- [89] KUMAR, B., PRABHU, T. M., SATHYAN, A., AND KRISHNAN, A. GLOF Early Warning System: Computational challenges and solutions. In *Current Directions in Water Scarcity Research*, vol. 7. Elsevier, 2022, pp. 641–662.
- [90] LAI, C.-Y., STEVENS, L. A., CHASE, D. L., CREYTS, T. T., BEHN, M. D., DAS, S. B., AND STONE, H. A. Hydraulic transmissivity inferred from icesheet relaxation following Greenland supraglacial lake drainages. *Nature Communications 12*, 1 (June 2021), 3955. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.

- [91] LAROUR, SEROUSSI, Н., Е., MORLIGHEM, М., AND RIGNOT, Ε. Continental scale, high order, high spatial resolution, ice sheet modeling using the Ice Sheet System Model (ISSM). Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 117, F1(2012).eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2011JF002140.
- [92] LINGLE, C. S., AND FATLAND, D. R. Does englacial water storage drive temperate glacier surges? Annals of Glaciology 36 (2003), 14–20. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [93] LITT, M., SHEA, J., WAGNON, P., STEINER, J., KOCH, I., STIGTER, E., AND IMMERZEEL, W. Glacier ablation and temperature indexed melt models in the Nepalese Himalaya. *Scientific Reports 9*, 1 (Mar. 2019), 5264. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [94] MAHARJAN, S. B., MOOL, P. K., LIZONG, W., XIAO, G., SHRESTHA, F., SHRESTHA, R. B., KHANAL, N. R., BAJRACHARYA, S. R., JOSHI, S., SHAI, S., AND BARAL, P. The Status of Glacial Lakes in the Hindu Kush Himalaya - ICIMOD Research Report 2018/1.
- [95] MAYEWSKI, P. A., AND JESCHKE, P. A. Himalayan and Trans-Himalayan Glacier Fluctuations Since AD 1812. Arctic and Alpine Research 11, 3 (1979), 267–287. Publisher: INSTAAR, University of Colorado.
- [96] MEIER, M. F., AND POST, A. What are glacier surges? Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences 6, 4 (Aug. 1969), 807–817. Publisher: NRC Research Press.
- [97] MILES, E., MCCARTHY, M., DEHECQ, A., KNEIB, M., FUGGER, S., AND PELLICCIOTTI, F. Health and sustainability of glaciers in High Mountain Asia. *Nature Communications 12*, 1 (May 2021), 2868. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [98] MILES, K. E., HUBBARD, B., QUINCEY, D. J., MILES, E. S., IRVINE-FYNN, T. D. L., AND ROWAN, A. V. Surface and subsurface hydrology of debriscovered Khumbu Glacier, Nepal, revealed by dye tracing. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters 513* (May 2019), 176–186.
- [99] MILLAN, R., MOUGINOT, J., RABATEL, A., AND MORLIGHEM, M. Ice velocity and thickness of the world's glaciers. *Nature Geoscience* 15, 2 (Feb. 2022), 124–129. Number: 2 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [100] MINCHEW, B. M., AND MEYER, C. R. Dilation of subglacial sediment governs incipient surge motion in glaciers with deformable beds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 476, 2238 (June 2020), 20200033. Publisher: Royal Society.
- [101] MOHAMMED ALI, S. Water mismanagement in Pakistan, Nov. 2022. Section: News.

- [102] MOORS, E. J., GROOT, A., BIEMANS, H., VAN SCHELTINGA, C. T., SIDERIUS, C., STOFFEL, M., HUGGEL, C., WILTSHIRE, A., MATHISON, C., RIDLEY, J., JACOB, D., KUMAR, P., BHADWAL, S., GOSAIN, A., AND COLLINS, D. N. Adaptation to changing water resources in the Ganges basin, northern India. *Environmental Science & Policy* 14, 7 (Nov. 2011), 758–769.
- [103] MUHAMMAD, S., LI, J., STEINER, J. F., SHRESTHA, F., SHAH, G. M., BERTHIER, E., GUO, L., WU, L.-X., AND TIAN, L. A holistic view of Shisper Glacier surge and outburst floods: from physical processes to downstream impacts. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards and Risk* 12, 1 (Jan. 2021), 2755–2775. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/19475705.2021.1975833.
- [104] MUNIR, R., BANO, T., ADIL, I. H., AND KHAYYAM, U. Perceptions of Glacier Grafting: An Indigenous Technique of Water Conservation for Food Security in Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan. Sustainability 13, 9 (Jan. 2021), 5208. Number: 9 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [105] MURRAY, T., STUART, G. W., MILLER, P. J., WOODWARD, J., SMITH, A. M., PORTER, P. R., AND JISKOOT, H. Glacier surge propagation by thermal evolution at the bed. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth 105*, B6 (2000), 13491–13507. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2000JB900066.
- [106] NABI, I. Responding to Pakistan floods. *Brookings* (Feb. 2023).
- [107] NANDITHA, J. S., KUSHWAHA, A. P., SINGH, R., MALIK, I., SOLANKI, H., CHUPHAL, D. S., DANGAR, S., MAHTO, S. S., VEGAD, U., AND MISHRA, V. The Pakistan Flood of August 2022: Causes and Implications. *Earth's Future 11*, 3 (2023), e2022EF003230. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2022EF003230.
- [108] NANNI, U., GIMBERT, F., ROUX, P., AND LECOINTRE, A. Observing the subglacial hydrology network and its dynamics with a dense seismic array. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 118*, 28 (July 2021), e2023757118. Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- [109] NEPAL, S., SHRESTHA, A. B., GOODRICH, C. G., MISHRA, A., PRAKASH, A., BHUCHAR, S., VASILY, L. A., KHADGI, V., PRADHAN, N. S., AND (EDS.). Multiscale Integrated River Basin Management from a Hindu Kush Himalayan Perspective; Resource Book.
- [110] NEPAL, S., STEINER, J. F., ALLEN, S., AZAM, M. F., BHUCHAR, S., BIE-MANS, H., DHAKAL, M., KHANAL, S., LI, D., LUTZ, A., PRADHANANGA, S., RITZEMA, R., STOFFEL, M., AND STUART-SMITH, R. Chapter 3: Consequences of cryospheric change for water resources and hazards in the Hindu

Kush Himalaya. In Water, ice, society, and ecosystems in the Hindu Kush Himalaya: An outlook. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), June 2023, pp. 73–121.

- [111] NEUPANE, R., CHEN, H., AND CAO, C. Review of moraine dam failure mechanism. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards and Risk 10*, 1 (Jan. 2019), 1948–1966. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/19475705.2019.1652210.
- [112] NIE, Y., PRITCHARD, H. D., LIU, Q., HENNIG, T., WANG, W., WANG, X., LIU, S., NEPAL, S., SAMYN, D., HEWITT, K., AND CHEN, X. Glacial change and hydrological implications in the Himalaya and Karakoram. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment 2*, 2 (Feb. 2021), 91–106. Number: 2 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [113] NIE, Y., SHENG, Y., LIU, Q., LIU, L., LIU, S., ZHANG, Y., AND SONG, C. A regional-scale assessment of Himalayan glacial lake changes using satellite observations from 1990 to 2015. *Remote Sensing of Environment 189* (Feb. 2017), 1–13.
- [114] NYE, J. F. Water Flow in Glaciers: Jökulhlaups, Tunnels and Veins. Journal of Glaciology 17, 76 (Jan. 1976), 181–207. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [115] OSTBY, K., NICULITA, A., DURRANI, A., AND GORAYA, A., Eds. Gender Equality in Pakistan-Climate & Politico-Economic Stressors. United Nations Development Programme Pakistan, Jan. 2023.
- [116] PANDA, G. K., CHATTERJEE, U., BANDYOPADHYAY, N., SETIAWATI, M. D., AND BANERJEE, D., Eds. Indigenous Knowledge and Disaster Risk Reduction: Insight Towards Perception, Response, Adaptation and Sustainability. Disaster Risk Reduction. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2023.
- [117] PARRY, J.-E., TERTON, A., OSMAN, H., LEDWELL, C., AND ASAD, S. Making Every Drop Count: Pakistan's growing water scarcity challenge.
- [118] PATEL, K. As record-setting heat blasts Pakistan, a glacial lake floods village. Washington Post (May 2022).
- [119] PRITCHARD, H. D. Asia's shrinking glaciers protect large populations from drought stress. *Nature 569*, 7758 (May 2019), 649–654. Number: 7758 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [120] QUINCEY, D. J., GLASSER, N. F., COOK, S. J., AND LUCKMAN, A. Heterogeneity in Karakoram glacier surges. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 120, 7 (2015), 1288–1300. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/2015JF003515.

- [121] RAMIREZ, R., AND DEWAN, A. Climate change: Pakistan emits less than 1% of the world's planet-warming gases. It's now drowning, Aug. 2022.
- [122] RASHID, I., MAJEED, U., JAN, A., AND GLASSER, N. F. The January 2018 to September 2019 surge of Shisper Glacier, Pakistan, detected from remote sensing observations. *Geomorphology 351* (Feb. 2020), 106957. ADS Bibcode: 2020Geomo.35106957R.
- [123] REHMAN, A. Cyclone Biparjoy underscores climate threats facing India and Pakistan. The Third Pole (June 2023).
- [124] RIGNOT, E., AND KANAGARATNAM, P. Changes in the Velocity Structure of the Greenland Ice Sheet. *Science 311*, 5763 (Feb. 2006), 986–990. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- [125] RITTER, M. Anatomy of a Glacier.
- [126] ROBIN, G. D. Q. Ice Movement and Temperature Distribution in Glaciers and Ice Sheets*. *Journal of Glaciology 2*, 18 (1955), 523–532. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [127] ROUNCE, D. R., HOCK, R., AND SHEAN, D. E. Glacier Mass Change in High Mountain Asia Through 2100 Using the Open-Source Python Glacier Evolution Model (PyGEM). Frontiers in Earth Science 7 (2020).
- [128] ROUND, V., LEINSS, S., HUSS, M., HAEMMIG, C., AND HAJNSEK, I. Surge dynamics and lake outbursts of Kyagar Glacier, Karakoram. *The Cryosphere* 11, 2 (Mar. 2017), 723–739. Publisher: Copernicus GmbH.
- [129] RUTLEDGE, K., MCDANIEL, M., TENG, S., HALL, H., RAMROOP, T., SPROUT, E., HUNT, J., BOUDREAU, D., AND COSTA, H. Moraine, July 2022.
- [130] RÖTHLISBERGER, H. Water Pressure in Intra- and Subglacial Channels. Journal of Glaciology 11, 62 (Jan. 1972), 177–203. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [131] SABIN, T. P., KRISHNAN, R., VELLORE, R., PRIYA, P., BORGAONKAR, H. P., SINGH, B. B., AND SAGAR, A. Climate Change Over the Himalayas. In Assessment of Climate Change over the Indian Region: A Report of the Ministry of Earth Sciences (MoES), Government of India, R. Krishnan, J. Sanjay, C. Gnanaseelan, M. Mujumdar, A. Kulkarni, and S. Chakraborty, Eds. Springer, Singapore, 2020, pp. 207–222.
- [132] SATTAR, A., ALLEN, S., MERGILI, M., HAEBERLI, W., FREY, H., KULKARNI, A. V., HARITASHYA, U. K., HUGGEL, C., GOSWAMI,

A., AND RAMSANKARAN, R. Modeling Potential Glacial Lake Outburst Flood Process Chains and Effects From Artificial Lake-Level Lowering at Gepang Gath Lake, Indian Himalaya. *Journal of Geophysi*cal Research: Earth Surface 128, 3 (2023), e2022JF006826. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2022JF006826.

- [133] SATTAR, A., GOSWAMI, A., KULKARNI, A. V., AND EMMER, A. Lake Evolution, Hydrodynamic Outburst Flood Modeling and Sensitivity Analysis in the Central Himalaya: A Case Study. *Water 12*, 1 (Jan. 2020), 237. Number: 1 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [134] SATTAR, A., HARITASHYA, U. K., KARGEL, J. S., AND KARKI, A. Transition of a small Himalayan glacier lake outburst flood to a giant transborder flood and debris flow. *Scientific Reports 12*, 1 (July 2022), 12421. Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [135] SCHROEDER, D. M., BLANKENSHIP, D. D., AND YOUNG, D. A. Evidence for a water system transition beneath Thwaites Glacier, West Antarctica. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110*, 30 (July 2013), 12225–12228. Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- [136] SCHWANGHART, W., WORNI, R., HUGGEL, C., STOFFEL, M., AND KORUP, O. Uncertainty in the Himalayan energy-water nexus: estimating regional exposure to glacial lake outburst floods. *Environmental Research Letters* 11, 7 (July 2016), 074005. Publisher: IOP Publishing.
- [137] SCOTT, C. A., ZHANG, F., MUKHERJI, A., IMMERZEEL, W., MUSTAFA, D., AND BHARATI, L. Water in the Hindu Kush Himalaya. In *The Hindu Kush Himalaya Assessment: Mountains, Climate Change, Sustainability and People*, P. Wester, A. Mishra, A. Mukherji, and A. B. Shrestha, Eds. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2019, pp. 257–299.
- [138] SEABERG, S., SEABERG, J., HOOKE, R., AND WIBERG, D. Character of the Englacial and Subglacial Drainage System in the Lower Part of the Ablation Area of Storglaciären, Sweden, as Revealed by Dye-Trace Studies. *Journal of Glaciology 34* (Jan. 1988), 217–227.
- [139] SETCHELL, H. ECMWF Reanalysis v5, Feb. 2020.
- [140] SEVESTRE, H., AND BENN, D. I. Climatic and geometric controls on the global distribution of surge-type glaciers: implications for a unifying model of surging. *Journal of Glaciology* 61, 228 (2015), 646–662. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [141] SHEPHERD, A., HUBBARD, A., NIENOW, P., KING, M., MCMILLAN, M., AND JOUGHIN, I. Greenland ice sheet motion coupled with daily melting in late summer. *Geophysical Research Letters 36*, 1 (2009). _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2008GL035758.

- [142] SHRESTHA, A., AND GHATE, R. Transboundary Water Governance in the Hindu Kush Himalaya Region: Beyond the Dialectics of Conflict and Cooperation. Tech. rep., ICIMOD, Kathmandu, Nepal, Dec. 2016.
- [143] SHUGAR, D. H., BURR, A., HARITASHYA, U. K., KARGEL, J. S., WATSON, C. S., KENNEDY, M. C., BEVINGTON, A. R., BETTS, R. A., HARRISON, S., AND STRATTMAN, K. Rapid worldwide growth of glacial lakes since 1990. *Nature Climate Change 10*, 10 (Oct. 2020), 939–945. Number: 10 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [144] SINGH, H., VARADE, D., DE VRIES, M. V. W., ADHIKARI, K., RAWAT, M., AWASTHI, S., AND RAWAT, D. Assessment of potential present and future glacial lake outburst flood hazard in the Hunza valley: A case study of Shisper and Mochowar glacier. *Science of The Total Environment 868* (Apr. 2023), 161717.
- [145] SINGH KHADKA, N. Nepal drains dangerous Everest lake. BBC News (Oct. 2016).
- [146] SOMMERS, A., RAJARAM, H., AND MORLIGHEM, M. SHAKTI: Subglacial Hydrology and Kinetic, Transient Interactions v1.0. *Geoscientific Model Devel*opment 11, 7 (July 2018), 2955–2974. Publisher: Copernicus GmbH.
- [147] SOMMERS, A. N., AND RAJARAM, H. Energy Transfer by Turbulent Dissipation in Glacial Conduits. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 125, 10 (2020), e2019JF005502. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2019JF005502.
- [148] SOMOS-VALENZUELA, M. A., CHISOLM, R. E., RIVAS, D. S., PORTOCAR-RERO, C., AND MCKINNEY, D. C. Modeling a glacial lake outburst flood process chain: the case of Lake Palcacocha and Huaraz, Peru. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 20*, 6 (July 2016), 2519–2543. Publisher: Copernicus GmbH.
- [149] STEINER, J. Personal communication, Feb. 2023.
- [150] STUMM, D., JOSHI, S. P., SALZMANN, N., AND MACDONELL, S. In situ monitoring of mountain glaciers: Experiences from mountain ranges around the world and recommendations for the hindu kush himalaya. Publisher: ICIMOD.
- [151] TALAT, D. The Water Crisis in Pakistan: A Devastating Plunge, Dec. 2020.
- [152] UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME. Resilience, Environment, and Climate Change, Dec. 2022.
- [153] WALDER, J. S., AND FOWLER, A. Channelized subglacial drainage over a deformable bed. *Journal of Glaciology* 40, 134 (Jan. 1994), 3–15. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.

- [154] WATSON, C. S., KING, O., MILES, E. S., AND QUINCEY, D. J. Optimising NDWI supraglacial pond classification on Himalayan debris-covered glaciers. *Remote Sensing of Environment 217* (Nov. 2018), 414–425.
- [155] WEERTMAN, J. On the Sliding of Glaciers. Journal of Glaciology 3, 21 (Jan. 1957), 33–38. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [156] WEERTMAN, J. General theory of water flow at the base of a glacier or ice sheet. *Reviews of Geophysics 10*, 1 (1972), 287–333. __eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/RG010i001p00287.
- [157] WESTOBY, M. J., GLASSER, N. F., HAMBREY, M. J., BRASING-TON, J., REYNOLDS, J. M., AND HASSAN, M. A. A. M. Reconstructing historic Glacial Lake Outburst Floods through numerical modelling and geomorphological assessment: Extreme events in the Himalaya. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 39*, 12 (2014), 1675–1692. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/esp.3617.
- [158] XU, J., BADOLA, R., CHETTRI, N., CHAUDHARY, R. P., ZOMER, R., POKHREL, B., HUSSAIN, S. A., PRADHAN, S., AND PRADHAN, R. Sustaining Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services in the Hindu Kush Himalaya. In *The Hindu Kush Himalaya Assessment: Mountains, Climate Change, Sustainability and People*, P. Wester, A. Mishra, A. Mukherji, and A. B. Shrestha, Eds. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2019, pp. 127–165.
- [159] YANG, X., ZHANG, T., QIN, D., KANG, S., AND QIN, X. Characteristics and Changes in Air Temperature and Glacier's Response on the North Slope of Mt. Qomolangma (Mt. Everest). Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 43, 1 (Feb. 2011), 147–160. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-43.1.147.
- [160] YAO, T., THOMPSON, L. G., MOSBRUGGER, V., ZHANG, F., MA, Y., LUO, T., XU, B., YANG, X., JOSWIAK, D. R., WANG, W., JOSWIAK, M. E., DEVKOTA, L. P., TAYAL, S., JILANI, R., AND FAYZIEV, R. Third Pole Environment (TPE). *Environmental Development 3* (July 2012), 52–64.
- [161] ZOET, L. K., AND IVERSON, N. R. A slip law for glaciers on deformable beds. Science 368, 6486 (Apr. 2020), 76–78. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- [162] ZWALLY, J., ABDALATI, W., HERRING, T., LARSEN, K., SABA, J., AND STEFFEN, K. Surface Melt-Induced Acceleration of Greenland Ice-Sheet Flow. *Science* 297, 5579 (2002).